

University of Alabama at Birmingham UAB Digital Commons

### All ETDs from UAB

**UAB Theses & Dissertations** 

2023

# Examining Associations Between Sources of Stress and Experimental Pain Sensitivity in Pediatric Patients with Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders

Corinne Taylor Evans University Of Alabama At Birmingham

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection

Part of the Arts and Humanities Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Evans, Corinne Taylor, "Examining Associations Between Sources of Stress and Experimental Pain Sensitivity in Pediatric Patients with Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders" (2023). *All ETDs from UAB*. 399.

https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection/399

This content has been accepted for inclusion by an authorized administrator of the UAB Digital Commons, and is provided as a free open access item. All inquiries regarding this item or the UAB Digital Commons should be directed to the UAB Libraries Office of Scholarly Communication.

### EXAMINING ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN SOURCES OF STRESS AND EXPERIMENTAL PAIN SENSITIVITY IN PEDIATRIC PATIENTS WITH FUNCTIONAL ABDOMINAL PAIN DISORDERS

by

### CORINNE TAYLOR EVANS

# BUREL R. GOODIN, COMMITTEE CO-CHAIR DAVID C. SCHWEBEL, COMMITTEE CO-CHAIR REED A. DIMMITT MARISSA A. GOWEY

### A THESIS

Submitted to the graduate faculty of the University of Alabama at Birmingham, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

# BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

#### 2023

Copyright by Corinne Taylor Evans 2023

# EXAMINING ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEEN SOURCES OF STRESS AND EXPERIMENTAL PAIN SENSITIVITY IN PEDIATRIC PATIENTS WITH FUNCTIONAL ABDOMINAL PAIN DISORDERS

#### CORINNE TAYLOR EVANS

#### MEDICAL CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

#### ABSTRACT

Functional abdominal pain disorders (FAPDs) are one of the most common pain complaints among children and adolescents. Research demonstrates a relationship between multiple sources of stress and pain responses. However, research has not yet explored the role of stress in pain processing and sensitivity in youth with FAPDs. Thus, the present study aimed to examine associations between biopsychosocial sources of stress and experimental pain sensitivity in pediatric patients with FAPDs. Additionally, racial differences in clinical and experimental pain responses were explored. Analytical findings did not support hypotheses as the biological, social, and psychological sources of stress did not predict experimental pain sensitivity based on statistical significance. However, psychological stress, in isolation, did predict temporal summation of mechanical pain. One analysis also suggested higher average temporal summation of mechanical pain in non-Hispanic White subjects compared to non-Hispanic Black subjects. However, both of these findings should be interpreted with caution given the lack of power. Results from this study suggest that the chosen biopsychosocial sources of stress may not contribute to pain sensitivity in youth with FAPDs. Results may also be explained, in part, by the absence of critical variables or the effects of stress-induced analgesia.

Keywords: functional abdominal pain disorders; pediatric psychology; biopsychosocial model; stress; experimental pain sensitivity

iii

# DEDICATION

For my brother, the late William Sanders Evans, whose life and death inspired me to become a pediatric psychologist and whose memory reminds me daily of the preciousness of life and the sanctity of good health.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My sincerest gratitude is extended to my mentor, Dr. Burel Goodin, for his exceptional guidance on this project. Dr. Goodin's sharing of his expertise in pain research and commitment to my development across all areas of training has and will continue to shape me as a student and professional. I would also like to share my appreciation with my thesis committee members, each of which contributed greatly to this project by generously sharing their knowledge and expertise. I would especially like to thank my former research mentor, Dr. Marissa Gowey, for her invaluable contributions to the conception of this project and my early development as a pediatric psychology researcher. Finally, I would like to acknowledge my parents, Garret and Deborah Evans, and brother, Callen Evans, for their unwavering support of all my educational and career endeavors. I would also like to thank the students in my cohort for their ongoing encouragement and support.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	iii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	. viii
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xi
INTRODUCTION	1
Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders Biological Contributors to Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders Psychosocial Contributors to Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders	1 3
Consequences of Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders	12
Quantitative Sensory Testing	14
Innovation	16
Aims & Hypotheses	17
AIM 1 Aim 2	1 / 17
Aim 3	18
Aim 4 (Exploratory Aim)	18
METHODS	19
Participants	19
Procedures	19
Measures	20
Allostatic Load	20
Psychosocial Functioning	22
Experimental Pain Sensitivity	23
United Pain Severity	24
nealui-keialeo Quality of Life	

Analytical Plan	5
A Priori Power Analysis2	5
Institutional Review Board Status2	7
Timeline	7
RESULTS	8
	~
Data Preparation2	.8
Preliminary Analyses	0
Participant Characteristics3	0
Biological Sources of Stress in Relation to Experimental Pain	
Sensitivity (Aim 1)3	0
Social Sources of Stress in Relation to Experimental Pain	
Sensitivity (Aim 2)	1
Social Functioning in Relation to Experimental Pain Sensitivity3	1
Peer Relationships in Relation to Experimental Pain Sensitivity3	2
Family Relationships in Relation to Experimental Pain Sensitivity3	2
Psychological Sources of Stress in Relation to Experimental Pain	
Sensitivity (Aim 3)	2
Anxiety, Depressive Symptoms, Psychological Stress,	
and ACEs in Relation to TSMP	2
Anxiety, Depressive Symptoms, Psychological Stress,	
and ACEs in Relation to Cold Pain Intensity.	
Controlling for Cold Pain Tolerance	3
Racial Differences in Experimental and Clinical Pain Responses	-
and Health-Related Quality of Life (Exploratory Aim)	3
······································	-
DISCUSSION	5
Limitations4	-2
Implications and Future Directions4	.3
Conclusions	4
LIST OF REFERENCES	6

# LIST OF TABLES

T	ables	Page
1	Clinical Cut-Off Scores for Allostatic Load Risk Variables	70
2	Demographic Characteristics of Participant Dyads	71
3	Descriptive Statistics of Allostatic Load, Psychosocial Functioning, Experimental Pain Sensitivity, Clinical Pain Severity and Covariates	72
4	Correlations Amongst Key Variables of Interest	73
5	Correlations Amongst Allostatic Load Risk, Temporal Summation, Cold Pain Intensity, and Covariates	74
6	Hierarchical Regressions Predicting Experimental Pain Sensitivity from Allostatic Load Risk	75
7	Hierarchical Linear Regression Model Predicting Cold Pain Intensity from Social Sources of Stress, Controlling for Cold Pain Tolerance	76
8	Correlations Between Social Sources of Stress and Temporal Summation of Mechanical Pain	76
9	Correlations Among Social Sources of Stress and Cold Pain Intensity	77
1(	D Linear Regression Models Predicting Temporal Summation of Mechanical Pain from Social Sources of Stress	77
1	Correlations Amongst Psychological Sources of Stress and Temporal Summation of Mechanical Pain	78
12	2 Multiple Regression Model Predicting Temporal Summation of Mechanical Pain from Psychological Sources of Stress	78
13	3 Correlations Amongst Psychological Sources of Stress and Cold Pain Intensity and Tolerance	, 79
14	4 Multiple Regression Model Predicting Cold Pain Intensity from Psychological Sources of Stress, Controlling for Cold Pain Tolerance	79

15	Correlations Amongst Clinical and Experimental Pain Responses and Health-Related Quality of Life
16	Descriptive Statistics for Race-Based Differences in Clinical Experimental Pain Responses and Health-Related Quality of Life
17	One-Way Analyses of Variance Examining Differences in Clinical and Experimental Pain Responses and Health-Related Quality of Life Between Non-Hispanic White and Non-Hispanic Black Participants
18	Non-Parametric Comparison of Clinical and Experimental Pain Response and Health-Related Quality of Life Between Non-Hispanic White and Non-Hispanic Black Participants

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figures		
1	Conceptual Model of the Biopsychosocial Sources of Stress in Pediatric FAPDs	82
2	Flow Diagram of Study Recruitment Procedures	83

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACE	adverse childhood experiences
BMI	body mass index
CRP	c-reactive protein
FAP	functional abdominal pain
FAPD	functional abdominal pain disorders
FGID	functional gastrointestinal disorder
hrQOL	health-related quality of life
hsCRP	high sensitivity c-reactive protein
IBS	irritable bowel syndrome
NHB	non-Hispanic Black
NHW	non-Hispanic White
QOL	quality of life
QST	quantitative sensory testing
RAP	recurrent abdominal pain

#### Introduction

#### **Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders**

Functional abdominal pain disorders (FAPDs) are a subset of functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs) that are characterized by recurrent episodes of abdominal pain that occur over a period of months and cause mild to severe impairment in daily functioning. Aside from recurrent abdominal pain, other FAPD symptoms can include diarrhea, constipation, nausea, bloating, and distention of the abdomen (Korterink et al., 2015b). FAPDs are a subset of functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs). FAPDs are diagnosed using Rome IV criteria (Brusaferro et al., 2018). Four disorders fit into this category: functional dyspepsia, irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), abdominal migraine, and FAP – not otherwise specified. To meet diagnostic criteria for a FAPD, symptoms must occur weekly for at least three months (Korterink et al., 2015b). FAPDs are common in youth in the United States, with prevalence rates as high as 19% (Chitkara et al., 2005). In up to 90% of FAPD cases, no organic cause can be identified. Thus, symptoms are referred to as "functional" (Spee et al., 2013) to indicate a problem in functioning rather than structure or biochemistry. Although the physiological cause of these various symptoms is largely unknown, the current consensus is that FAPD symptoms are a product of abnormalities in gastrointestinal motility and pain processing (Mayer et al., 2008).

Previous research elucidates a biopsychosocial model of chronic pain in which the combination of ongoing biological, psychological, and social stressors impacts the

severity and chronicity of a child's pain experience (Riddell et al., 2013). Although this model is accepted as a standard conceptualization of pediatric pain, very little research has examined the impact of biopsychosocial sources of stress on the neurobiological correlates of pediatric FAPD. The current study will begin to address this gap by examining associations between biopsychosocial sources of stress and experimental pain responses in youth with FAPD.

Of importance, the current literature suggests a robust association between exposure and responses to stress and gastrointestinal symptoms (Gulewitsch et al., 2017; Nelson & Cunningham, 2020; Rakesh et al., 2005; Thomsen et al., 2002). Thus far, evidence suggests that stress interferes with the parasympathetic and sympathetic pathways implicated in the brain-gut axis and this produces gastrointestinal symptoms, including abdominal pain (Rakesh et al., 2005). However, limited research has examined this phenomenon in pediatric populations.

Ongoing investigation regarding the causes and contributors to FAPD symptomatology is desperately needed. FAPDs are some of the most difficult GI conditions to treat given that typical gut-directed treatments are not always effective. Additionally, identifying an effective combination of pain management strategies can involve several rounds of trial and error (Brusaferro et al., 2018; Drossman, 2008; Grover & Drossman, 2010). Many children endure thorough and costly medical investigations before being diagnosed with an FAPD (Korterink et al., 2015) and families report frustration with the FAPD diagnostic process and lack of effective treatments available (Nieto et al., 2020). Since traditional medical and pharmacological intervention has been largely unsuccessful in treating pediatric FAPD, current research efforts are now focused on identifying potential psychosocial correlates associated with FAPDs, which may serve as effective treatment targets (Tarsitano et al., 2018; Yacob et al., 2021).

#### **Biological Contributors to Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders**

At this time, no universal biological causes of FAPDs in youth have been identified (Korterink et al., 2015a). However, mounting evidence suggests that neurobiological factors such as abnormal brain-gut interaction, abnormal immune activation, and visceral hypersensitivity contribute to symptoms, including pain, in children and adolescents with FAPDs (Korterink et al., 2015a; Simreń et al., 2013).

One body of literature demonstrates visceral hyperalgesia in children with FAPDs and other FGIDs. Visceral hyperalgesia refers to having a lower detection threshold for pain as well as a lower pain tolerance in response to noxious, pain-inducing stimuli (Cervero & Laird, 1999). Specifically, research demonstrates rectal sensitivity in children with FAPDs compared to healthy controls (Faure & Wieckowska, 2007; van Ginkel et al., 2001). One study using gastric and rectal barostat procedures found that children with recurrent abdominal pain (RAP) and IBS demonstrated significant hyperalgesia compared to healthy controls in both areas (di Lorenzo et al., 2001). Additionally, this study found higher rates of anxiety and depression in both FAPD groups which was associated with symptom severity but not visceral hyperalgesia scores (di Lorenzo et al., 2001). The exact physiological mechanisms underlying visceral hyperalgesia in youth with FAPDs are unknown at this time. However, research suggests that visceral hyperalgesia in FAPDs may be a result of hyper sensitization of spinal cord and enteric neurons in addition to the abnormal modulation of pain pathways (Faure & Wieckowska, 2007).

Additionally, abnormal immune activation, resulting from dysregulated gut microbiota, has also been suggested as a biological contributor to pain in FAPDs. The human GI tract is comprised of close to 500 different species of bacteria which make up the gut microbiome (Xu & Gordon, 2001). The GI microbiome is closely linked with one's immune system such that decreased levels of "good bacteria" in the gut can trigger an immune response. Repeated overactivation of one's immune system because of dysregulated gut microbiota can lead to downstream consequences including obesity, infection, and diarrhea (Ju et al., 2008; Maruvada et al., 2017; Sekirov & Finlay, 2009; Turnbaugh et al., 2006).

Furthermore, some research suggests that gut microbiomes are affected by more than biology alone. Research using animal models suggests that exposure to physical and psychological stress early in life is associated with disrupted gut microbiota (Galley et al., 2014). Additionally, current research suggests an association between abnormalities in gut microbiota and pain responses. The current understanding in the literature is that disrupted gut microbiota initiates an overactivated immune response which produces a cascading effect and activates nociceptive pathways. This can disrupt one's pain modulation in the central nervous system (Simreń et al., 2013). However, more research is needed to confirm this current hypothesis and determine whether these associations generalize to pediatric pain populations.

Some research suggests that abnormalities in gastrointestinal motility may partially explain why children with FAPDs experience pain. Studies using noninvasive ultrasonography have demonstrated impaired antral motility and delayed gastric emptying in children with IBS, functional dyspepsia, RAP, and FAP (Devanarayana et al., 2012; Devanarayana et al., 2013a; Devanarayana et al., 2013b). Similar to research on the gut microbiome and FAPDs, studies using animal and human models show that exposure to stress is associated with significantly delayed gastric emptying rates (Devanarayana et al., 2013a; Jiang & Travagli, 2020; Ochi et al., 2008). In particular, one study found that children with IBS that have been exposed to stressful events early in life exhibit significantly delayed gastric emptying compared to those without stress exposure (Devanarayana et al., 2013a). In FAPDs, and functional dyspepsia specifically, delayed gastric emptying is associated with increased symptom severity, including increased abdominal pain (Devanarayana et al., 2012; Devanarayana et al., 2013b).

Further, exposure to repeated or chronic stress over time can have other significant physiological consequences known as allostatic load (Calcaterra et al., 2019; Guidi et al., 2021; Nelson et al., 2021). Some more advanced calculations of allostatic load can include additional neurobiological markers such as cortisol, dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), and norepinephrine and pro-inflammatory cytokines including interleukin-6 (IL-6) and C-reactive protein (CRP) (Calcaterra et al., 2019; Duong et al., 2017; Guidi et al., 2021). Specifically, exposure to stress during important development stages in childhood and adolescence can have lasting negative impacts on physical health outcomes including higher risk for cardiovascular disease, diabetes, musculoskeletal disorders, and mood disorders (Guidi et al., 2021).

The adult pain literature demonstrates a replicable association between allostatic load and pain severity (Sibille et al., 2017; Slade et al., 2012). However, less is understood about the associations between allostatic load and pain outcomes in pediatric populations. One study found that children with chronic health conditions exhibit higher allostatic load compared to healthy counterparts (Ersig et al., 2021). Another study in this area found that children with chronic pain have elevated allostatic load compared to healthy peers (Nelson et al., 2021). However, little to no research is available examining the relationships between allostatic load and GI-related pain. Therefore, the current study will aim to address this gap in the literature.

Furthermore, previous research shows significant disparities in allostatic load between Non-Hispanic White (NHW) vs. Non-Hispanic Black (NHB) adults (Chyu & Upchurch, 2011; Duru et al., 2012; Tomfohr et al., 2016). This disparity remains even when accounting for individual factors such as SES and health behaviors (Duru et al., 2012). Moreover, some research suggests that the disparity in allostatic load between NHW and NHB individuals may be partially explained by differences in sleep quality because of higher rates of experienced anger due to discriminatory experiences endured by NHB persons (Tomfohr et al., 2016). Research demonstrates that NHB youth living in impoverished neighborhoods experience significant increases in allostatic load over time which can be detrimental to their health (Brody et al., 2014). Although emerging research suggests an association between neighborhood SES and experimental pain outcomes in youth with FAP (Morris et al., 2022), no research has examined the relationship between allostatic load and pain in diverse youth with FAPDs. Examining this relationship could further our understanding of the biological contributors to FAPD symptoms and potentially provide evidence for biomarkers of FAPD pathology in youth.

#### Psychosocial Contributors to Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders in Youth

An established body of literature suggests a clear connection between psychological functioning and pain severity and functional disability in youth with chronic pain (Kashikar-Zuck et al., 2016; Lewandowski Holley et al., 2013). More recent research in pediatric FAPD demonstrates psychological and social factors as correlates of symptom severity and functioning. For example, research suggests that psychosocial factors such as low socioeconomic status, living in a single parent household, early exposure to psychological stress as well as internalizing problems like anxiety and depression may contribute to FAP in youth (Chitkara et al., 2005; Korterink et al., 2015a)

Research demonstrates a strong association between anxiety and chronic pain in youth (Campo et al., 2004; Mahrer et al., 2012). One study examining a clinical sample of children with recurrent abdominal pain (RAP) found that 79% of participants met diagnostic criteria for an anxiety disorder and that anxiety symptoms preceded RAP symptoms in most children (Campo et al., 2004). The exact cause(s) of this association between abdominal pain and anxiety in children remains unknown. Current theories suggest a potential diathesis model in which anxiety and chronic abdominal pain share certain features or are products of the same pathophysiological process (Campo et al., 2004). However, further investigation is needed to answer this question. Another theory suggests that the association between anxiety and functional abdominal pain in children may be explained by a temperamental sensitivity to stimuli perceived as threatening. In this theory, abdominal pain is understood as a somatic manifestation of a larger neurobiological process (Campo et al., 2004).

Current findings in the adult literature suggest a bidirectional relationship between anxiety and pain such that the onset of pain precludes symptoms of anxiety which may, in turn, disrupt pain pathways leading to further pain catastrophizing and anxiety (Beesdo et al., 2009). Some research suggests that anxiety sensitivity may explain the relationship between anxiety and pain in chronic pain populations. Martin and colleagues (2007) studied a sample of children with chronic pain and found that anxiety sensitivity predicted a child's fear of pain which, in turn, was associated with pain-related disability (Martin et al., 2007). Additional studies involving pediatric chronic pain populations have demonstrated an association between anxiety sensitivity and other functional outcomes including psychological well-being and social functioning (Tsao et al., 2007)

Additionally, research in children with RAP suggests an association between depressive symptoms and abdominal pain. Specifically, one study found that 43% of sampled children with RAP met diagnostic criteria for a depressive disorder (Campo et al., 2004). Similarly, the cause(s) underlying the association between depressive symptoms and abdominal pain is not well understood. Research in both children and adults with FAPD suggests that this correlation may be explained by differences in pain reporting and perceived pain efficacy as opposed to differences in pain sensitivity or pain experience (Anderson et al., 2008; Dorn et al., 2007). Additionally, one study with children with chronic abdominal pain found an association between non-GI symptom rates and clinically significant depressive symptoms, suggesting that the relationship between abdominal pain and depressive symptoms may be psychosomatic (Little et al., 2007). Additional studies support this notion and provide evidence that the connection between depressive symptoms and abdominal pain may be explained by the mediating roles of pain catastrophizing and/or somatization (Hollier et al., 2019).

Additionally, research suggests that adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) may be implicated in the pathophysiology of FAPD. ACEs include experiences of abuse, neglect, and exposure to domestic violence, substance abuse, mental illness, or separation from parents due to divorce, death, or incarceration (Felitti et al., 1998). Some research suggests that there exists a higher prevalence of ACEs in children and adolescents with chronic pain complaints compared to healthy counterparts (Groenewald et al., 2020; Nelson et al., 2017; Stensland et al., 2013). Early FAPD research suggests that adults with FAPDs are more likely to have experienced abuse as a child or adult; including more severe events like sexual assault and life-threatening physical abuse, compared to healthy counterparts or adults with organic gastrointestinal conditions (Drossman et al., 1990; Talley et al., 1994). Furthermore, research shows that the effect of ACEs on FAPD symptoms is stronger in females compared to males (Drossman et al., 1990). The current adult literature continues to support a significant association between early adverse life events and the development of IBS in adulthood (Bradford et al., 2012). However, additional research is needed to understand how ACEs may contribute to neurobiological differences in pain processing that may account for functional abdominal pain symptoms during and after childhood.

The cause(s) of the association between ACEs and FAPD symptoms in humans is not well understood. However, animal models provide some guidance regarding the potential neurobiological underpinnings of this disease process. Studies with rat models show that perinatal stressors (e.g., maternal separation) are associated with the development of several symptoms that mimic those associated with FAPDs, including visceral hypersensitivity, increased defecation, mucosal dysfunction in the intestines, increased hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis responses, and anxious behavior (Coutinho et al., 2002; Gareau et al., 2006, 2007; Ladd et al., 1996). One study examined the relationship between childhood adversity and experimental pain sensitivity and found that healthy individuals with higher childhood adversity also had increased temporal summation of second pain sensitization and slower decay of subsequent aftersensations. These findings suggested that childhood adversity may contribute to increased central sensitization which, in turn, may contribute to greater pain intensity and hypersensitivity (You & Meagher, 2016). Other human subjects research in pediatric chronic pain suggests that the association between ACEs and chronic pain may be explained by a heightened vulnerability to anxiety and mood disorders (Sachs-Ericsson et al., 2017). Overall, more research is needed to better understand the relationships between ACEs and pain experience in youth.

A substantial body of research has demonstrated several social determinants of pediatric pain, including pediatric abdominal pain. Research suggests that there is an association between family living situation and FAPD such that children living in single parent households tend to be at risk for recurrent abdominal pain symptoms (Bode et al., 2003; Korterink et al., 2015a). Furthermore, differences in family functioning have been associated with a range of pediatric chronic health conditions, including pediatric chronic pain. Specifically, research demonstrates that increased attention from parents and reinforcement of the "sick role" may perpetuate higher symptom reporting in children with chronic pain (Feldman et al., 2010; Peterson & Palermo, 2004; Walker et al., 2006). One study found that good family functioning (e.g., effective communication, social and emotional support, etc) was protective against pediatric abdominal pain incidence (Feldman et al., 2010). However, more research is needed to better understand how social factors, such as family functioning, impact the development of neurobiological pain processes in youth with FAPDs. Specifically, research using quantitative sensory testing

and longitudinal models may help us better understand the degree to which social sources of stress may impact pain processing (i.e., central sensitization) and contribute to greater pain chronicity and severity in this population.

Furthermore, research suggests that peer relationships are significantly affected by chronic pain. Although most of this research has been conducted with adults, emerging research suggests that children and adolescents with chronic pain report deficient peer relationships (Forgeron et al., 2010; Kashikar-Zuck et al., 2007). Research suggests that peer relationships can serve as both a protective factor and source of stress for children living with chronic pain (Carter et al., 2002; Forgeron et al., 2013). In particular, adolescents with chronic pain describe feeling "different" from their friends due to their chronic pain, leading to social isolation (Forgeron et al., 2013). Some research suggests that children with chronic pain may try to disguise their pain (e.g., avoid facial expressions and other pain behaviors) to better fit in among their peers (Carter et al., 2002). While extant literature documents the relationship between social functioning, including peer relationships and subjective pain experience, very little is understood about how social functioning may be related to pain processing, including pain sensitivity and facilitation (Morris et al., 2016, 2022).

Although previous research suggests that females are disproportionately affected by FAPDs, research does <u>not</u> suggest differences in prevalence rates between White and Black youth with FAPDs (Lewis et al., 2016). Research does suggest that racial minority groups are chronically exposed to social and economic disadvantage, which is associated with disparities in physical health outcomes (Bauman et al., 2006; Williams, 2018). Considering well demonstrated race-based differences in clinical and experimental pain outcomes in other populations, it is important to examine this in a diverse pediatric sample with FAPD (Morris et al., 2015a, 2015b; Rahavard et al., 2017). Furthermore, this could partially explain potential racial disparities in clinical pain severity among youth with FAPDs, but more investigation is needed.

#### **Consequences of Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders in Youth**

Chronic FAP is associated with several negative psychosocial consequences in youth. Children with FAP, on average, have reduced health-related quality of life (hrQOL) compared to their healthy counterparts (Varni et al., 2015). In particular, children with FAPDs and other FGIDs experience decreased social functioning compared to children diagnosed with an organic gastrointestinal disorder (Varni et al., 2015). This reduced hrQOL is associated with higher rates of school absence for youth with FAPDs, increased work absence for their caregivers, and higher rates of healthcare utilization; particularly frequent pediatrician visits, emergency department visits for pain intervention, and prescriptions for analgesic and other pharmacological interventions (Hoekman et al., 2015; van Tilburg & Murphy, 2015; Varni et al., 2015).

Some research has demonstrated that youth with FGIDs have reduced quality of life (QOL) compared to youth diagnosed with organic gastrointestinal disorders (Varni et al., 2015; Youssef et al., 2006). Van Tilburg & Murphy (2014) refer to this as the "quality of life paradox." While one would expect QOL to be closely tied with symptom severity, research suggests that pediatric FGID patients often have less severe symptoms but poorer QOL compared to pediatric patients with organic gastrointestinal disorders. More research is needed to best understand why children with functional disorders have a lower QOL compared to children with organic disorders. However, some theorize that this discrepancy exists because children with organic disorders feel they have greater control over treating their symptoms compared to children with functional disorders. Organic disorders are often associated with a defined treatment plan aimed at targeting the specific cause(s) of the child's symptoms. Children with functional disorders and their families often feel helpless due to difficulties identifying the cause of the child's symptoms and determining a clear treatment plan (van Tilburg & Murphy, 2015).

Pediatric FAPDs do not just affect the child but also their close family members and social systems. Compared to mothers of healthy children, mothers of children living with FAPDs are more likely to experience anxiety, depressive, and somatic disorders (Campo et al., 2007). Additionally, mothers of youth with FAPDs were more likely to have irritable bowel syndrome, chronic migraine, and other somatoform disorders compared to mothers of healthy children. These findings suggest that a heightened vulnerability to anxiety, depressive, and somatoform disorder symptoms may represent a mechanism for FAPD onset and maintenance in certain youth (Campo et al., 2007). Furthermore, it is possible that the negative physical and mental health consequences experienced by mothers of children with FAPDs represent biproducts of the difficulties of caring for a child with these conditions. More longitudinal and biological-focused research is needed to understand the direct impact of raising a child with FAPD on caregiver wellbeing.

Finally, many children with chronic pain conditions and their families face stigma due to the lack of medical explanation for the child's pain symptoms and related impairments (Wakefield et al., 2018, 2022). As a result of this stigma, many youth with chronic pain try to conceal their pain symptoms to avoid negative social consequences

13

(Wakefield et al., 2021). Little research has examined stigma and stigma concealment in youth with FAPDs. However, one study compared levels of enacted stigma using clinical vignettes of patients with irritable bowel disease, IBS, and adult-onset asthma. They found that individuals with IBS, an FAPD, experienced significantly higher rates of enacted stigma compared to individuals with inflammatory bowel disease or adult-onset asthma, disorders with known medical etiology (Taft et al., 2017). Furthermore, another study demonstrated that about 25% of adolescents with FAPDs report experiencing felt stigma and stigma concealment and that rates of both were higher in adolescents with IBS compared to individuals with other types of FAPD (Laird et al., 2020). Some research suggests that chronic concealment can contribute to negative physical and psychological health outcomes (Laird et al., 2020; Quinn et al., 2017). However, more research is needed to understand the impacts of felt stigma and stigma concealment on youth with FAPDs.

#### **Quantitative Sensory Testing**

Quantitative sensory testing (QST) represents a series of noninvasive sensory perception tasks that involve either mechanical, thermal, or other stimuli (Li et al., 2023). QST allows scientists to gather information about the possible neurobiological correlates of pain in various clinical pain populations. One commonly utilized mechanical task measures temporal summation of mechanical pain. In this task, the participant receives repeated noxious stimuli from a weighted pin prick stimulator which induces pain facilitation or "wind up" (Overstreet et al., 2021; Staud et al., 2001). Temporal summation of mechanical pain can provide evidence of individual and group-based differences in pain facilitatory processes and suggest potential underlying neurobiological mechanisms for further study. Temporal summation of mechanical pain has been used to measure pain facilitation in various pediatric pain populations including chronic musculoskeletal pain (Li et al., 2023), sickle cell disease (Bakshi et al., 2017), fibromyalgia, joint pain, and headache (Ci et al., 2012). However, thus far, temporal summation of mechanical pain has not been studied in youth with FAP.

Another QST task that is often used in pediatric populations is the cold pressor task. In this task, the participant places their hand in cold water for as they can tolerate and provides a pain rating for the highest pain they felt during the task (von Baeyer et al., 2005). Compared to temporal summation of mechanical pain, the cold pressor task involves a longer duration of pain, allowing C fibers to carry the pain signal to the brain (von Baeyer et al., 2005). Similar to temporal summation of mechanical pain, cold pressor task has been used as a QST method in several pain populations including adolecents with chronic musculoskeletal pain (Tham et al., 2016) and adults with both chronic musculoskeletal and soft-tissue (i.e., visceral) pain (Paccione et al., 2022). Research using a similar QST method, conditioned pain modulation, demonstrated significant impairments in pain modulation abilities in youth with FAPD (Morris et al., 2016). However, no research has used cold pressor task as a QST method for measuring experimental pain tolerance in youth with FAPD.

Although QST has been widely used in adult pain populations, there is significantly less research using QST to characterize pediatric pain experiences (Tham et al., 2016). This represents a gap both in the larger chronic pain literature and our understanding of the neurobiological underpinnings of pediatric FAPD. Some research provides preliminary evidence of psychosocial predictors of abnormal pain processing in youth with various chronic pain conditions. Bakshi & colleagues (2017) found that anxiety, depressive symptoms, somatization, and pain catastrophizing were associated with increased experimental pain sensitivity in youth with sickle cell disease (Bakshi et al., 2017). Several studies have demonstrated differences in pain tolerance and sensitivity on the basis of race (Ahn et al., 2017). A meta-analysis by Kim & colleagues (2017) demonstrated higher pain sensitivity in minority populations (i.e., Asians, African Americans, and Hispanics) compared to non-Hispanic Whites (Kim et al., 2017). One study found that social support reduced pain severity ratings and distress during a cold pressor task (Roberts et al., 2015). Another study demonstrated that higher rates of childhood adversity, measured as ACEs, predicted greater pain sensitization and decreased decay (i.e., decrease in C fiber activation) during a temporal summation task (You & Meagher, 2016). Taken together, these findings suggest that the effects of psychosocial variables on pain processing, especially central sensitization (i.e., long-term increase in nociception), may reflect an underlying mechanism for various chronic pain disorders. However, more research using QST methods in pediatric FAPD is needed to better understand the biopsychosocial mechanisms that may account for this population's chronic and otherwise unexplainable pain.

#### Innovation

The present study adds to the current literature on pediatric FAPD by using more objective pain outcomes, including experimental pain sensitivity. Few studies have applied quantitative sensory testing methods to the pediatric FAPD population (Morris et al., 2015a, 2015b). The application of these methods to this population may allow for better understanding of the pain-related mechanisms underlying FAPD symptoms. The current

study will aim to lay a foundation for this work by examining the potential biopsychosocial sources of stress that are related to experimental pain sensitivity in children with FAPDs.

Since the majority of previous FAPD research has involved predominantly NHW samples (Ford et al., 2014), the current study aimed to add to the literature by examining correlates of pain-related outcomes in a racially diverse sample of youth with FAPD. Our current understanding of how FAPD may vary across groups is limited. This study aimed to examine the biopsychosocial stressors (See **Figure 1**) associated with pain in diverse youth with FAPD. Results from the current study may bring awareness to targets for intervention that could refine current treatments for diverse youth with FAPD.

#### Aims & Hypotheses

#### Aim 1

Examine the association between allostatic load risk and experimental pain sensitivity (i.e., temporal summation of mechanical pain and cold pain intensity) in youth with FAPDs.

**Hypothesis 1.** Lower levels of allostatic load risk will be associated with decreased pain sensitivity.

#### Aim 2

Examine the association between social sources of stress and experimental pain sensitivity in youth with FAPDs.

**Hypothesis 2.** Higher scores on the peer relationships measure, increased overall social functioning, and increased family relationship scores will be associated with decreased experimental pain sensitivity.

# Aim 3

Examine the association between psychological sources of stress and experimental pain sensitivity in youth with FAPDs.

**Hypothesis 3.** Lower depressive symptoms, anxiety, ACEs, and psychological stress will be associated with decreased experimental pain sensitivity.

# Aim 4 (Exploratory Aim)

Examine race-related differences between experimental pain sensitivity, clinical pain severity, and hrQOL in youth with FAPDs.

**Hypothesis 4.** Non-Hispanic Black youth with FAPDs will exhibit higher rates of clinical pain severity and experimental pain sensitivity and lower rates of hrQOL compared to non-Hispanic white youth.

#### Methods

#### **Participants**

Participants included children aged 8-18 years with a FAPD and at least one caregiver. All children were screened for a FAPD diagnosis using the official Rome IV criteria for functional abdominal pain disorders (Brusaferro et al., 2018). <u>Inclusion criteria</u> included (1) child is  $\geq$  8 and  $\leq$  18 years old at the time of assessment, (2) meets Rome IV criteria for at least one FAPD, (3) child and caregiver can read, write, and speak English, and (4) consenting caregiver is the child's legal guardian. <u>Exclusion criteria</u> are (1) diminished cognitive function determined to increase the risk of study participation, (2) current or suspected pregnancy for the child, (3) blood pressure in the hypertensive range, (4) past or present cardiovascular disease, (5) serious psychiatric disorder requiring hospitalization within the past 12 months or characterized by active suicidal ideation. Participants were recruited through the Pediatric Gastroenterology Clinic in the Children's of Alabama Hospital.

### Procedures

UAB pediatric gastroenterology providers (i.e., medical doctors and nurse practitioners) identified children with a history of FAP and referred them to the Gastrointestinal Pain Research Clinic which holds appointments every week. See **Figure 2** for a diagram of recruitment procedures. Participants were screened approximately one week prior to their appointment. Eligible patients were scheduled for a 1-hour research visit following their scheduled medical visit and ineligible patients returned to receiving

care from their existing gastroenterology provider. One day prior to their appointment, families received a reminder call, and the child was instructed to fast "between lunchtime until the end of their appointment." Upon arrival at their appointment, participating families were greeted by research staff and triaged by clinic staff. Study staff recorded the child's height (in.), weight (lbs.), and blood pressure (mmHg) measurements taken by medical staff. Study staff evaluated the child's blood pressure using criteria from the National High Blood Pressure Education Program, BP ranges for girls and boys from the National Institutes of Health, and BP ranges for adults from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (High Blood Pressure, 2022; Riley et al., 2018). If the child or adolescent was determined to have elevated blood pressure for their height and age, the study physician was consulted prior to allowing them to participate in the quantitative sensory testing (QST) and finger prick. Caregivers provided consent for themselves and their children. Children ages 8 to 13 years old provide their assent, while adolescents 14 to 18 years old co-signed the consent form. After finishing the consenting process, children and caregivers each completed a series of digital questionnaires using iPads. Then, children completed QST and blood collection by finger prick. Dyads received a \$50 incentive via gift card at the end of their participation in the study.

#### Measures

Caregivers completed a demographic form with child and caregiver sex, age, race/ethnicity, income, insurance status, education, and other variables related to SES.

#### Allostatic Load.

Participant allostatic load was calculated using high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), blood pressure, and body mass index (BMI) percentile. Each indicator was dichotomized using clinical cut-offs (i.e., 0 = "Below Clinical Threshold," 1 = "At or

Above Clinical Threshold"). Hypertension was coded as  $0 = <95^{\text{th}}$  percentile based on height and weight and  $1 = \ge 95^{\text{th}}$  percentile based on systolic and diastolic blood pressure levels taken and evaluated at triage. See **Table 1** for all clinical cut-off information. In accordance with previous research on measuring allostatic load (Wiley et al., 2016) and consultation with an expert on allostatic load measurement in pediatric chronic pain samples, indicators were grouped into two allostatic load risk factors. The cardiometabolic risk factor was calculated by summing the dichotomized variables for BMI percentile and hypertension. The inflammatory risk factor served as the dichomotized variable for hsCRP. A total allostatic load risk factor was calculated by summing the cardiometabolic and inflammatory risk factors, resulting in a range of allostatic load risk scores from 0 = lowest allostatic load risk to 3 = highest allostatic load risk. This method of capturing allostatic load by summing allostatic load risk indicators is in accordance with previous research (Duong et al., 2017; Nelson et al., 2017). Height, weight, and blood pressure were recorded at triage. BMI was computed using the height and weight measurements at triage and up-to-date weight status guidelines from the CDC (About Child and Teen BMI, 2021).

Trained study staff used a 2.0 mm x 1.5 mm contact-activated lancet to prick the outer edge of the middle finger of the child's non-dominant hand for blood collection. 1-4 large drops of blood were collected using a dried blood spot card. Dried blood spot cards were stored in a - 80 degrees Celsius freezer and sent to ZRT labs for the hsCRP analysis. CRP is a pentameric protein that is synthesized in the liver. Elevated hsCRP is an indicator of chronic inflammation and disease activity in gastrointestinal disorders (Vermeire et al., 2005)

#### **Psychosocial Functioning.**

Overall child psychosocial functioning was captured using a series of validated questionnaires. Children completed the following PROMIS measures: Anxiety SF 8a, Depressive Symptoms SF 8a, Psychological Stress SF 8a, and Peer Relationships SF 8a. Caregivers completed the parent proxy for each of the PROMIS measures. The PROMIS measures are reliable pediatric outcome measures that have been validated in several diverse pediatric populations (Bevans et al., 2018; Reeve et al., 2020).

Additionally, caregivers completed the Pediatric ACEs and Related Life Events Screener (PEARLS). The PEARLS is a 17-item parent-report questionnaire that calculates the number of ACEs a child has experienced in their life thus far. The PEARLS has been used in recent pediatric ACEs-related research (Albarran-slovin et al., 2021). Finally, caregivers completed the PedsQL Family Impact Module, a 36-item parent-report measure that captures the impact that a child's illness has on family functioning across social, emotional, and physical domains. The family functioning subscale was used for the purposes of this study (i.e., Aim 2). The PedsQL Family Impact Module has demonstrated excellent reliability and validity in pediatric samples (Medrano et al., 2013). All questionnaires were administered electronically via iPad using the REDCap data management system, and each aspect of psychosocial functioning was analyzed independently.

#### **Experimental Pain Sensitivity.**

Youth participated in two experimental pain sensitivity tests. The first test was a temporal summation of mechanical pain test. This test used a weighted (256 mN) pinprick stimulator at the distal middle phalange of the child's non-dominant hand. The

probe was oriented perpendicularly above the point of contact and lowered gently until the filament retracted fully into the metal cylinder holding. Participants first received a single contact from the stimulator and rated their pain on a scale from 0 to 100, where "0 = no pain and 100 = most intense pain imaginable." Participants viewed a visual analog scale to help them conceptualize the 0 to 100 pain rating. Then, the participants were asked to close their eyes as they received ten contacts from the stimulator at a rate of one contact per second. They were then asked to rate their most intense pain resulting from the 10 contacts on the scale from 0 to 100. The full procedure was performed twice on each participant. Temporal summation effects (i.e., Delta change score) were calculated by subtracting the pain intensity ratings following the first contact from the ratings following the series of 10 contacts.

The second experimental pain sensitivity test measured cold pain tolerance and cold pain intensity. Participants were instructed to place their dominant hand in an immersion circulator basin filled with cold water for as long as they could tolerate. Unbeknownst to participants, the maximum allowable immersion time was 180 seconds. The cold pressor was maintained at 7 degrees Celsius using an ARTIC A25 refrigerated bath with an SC150 immersion circulator. 7 degrees Celsius is a safe temperature for the cold pressor task in children that also avoids ceiling effects (Birnie et al., 2016; von Baeyer et al., 2005). Participants spread their fingers wide and placed their hand in the middle of the basin. The display screen of the circulator was covered so that participants could not see the temperature of the water. Study staff used a stopwatch to record the time in seconds from when the participant submerged their hand in the water to when they took it out. When the participant removed their hand, they were asked to provide a

pain rating on a scale from 0 to 100 representing the greatest intensity of pain experienced during the immersion period. Again, participants viewed the visual analog scale to assist in rating their pain. Participants were told to remove their submerged hand after 180 seconds (and provide a cold pain intensity rating) if they had not already done so.

#### **Clinical Pain Severity.**

Clinical pain severity was captured using the PROMIS Pain Intensity 1a measure. Participants were asked to rate their abdominal pain on average over the past 7 days using a Likert-type scale ranging from 0 (no pain) to 10 (worst pain you can think of). The PROMIS pain questionnaires are reliable and valid measures for pediatric chronic pain (Jacobson et al., 2015).

#### Health-Related Quality of Life.

HrQOL was measured using the PedsQL. The PedsQL is a 23-item questionnaire that assesses a child's hrQOL. Specifically, the PedsQL assesses 4 dimensions of functioning: 1) physical functioning, 2) emotional functioning, 3) social functioning, and 4) school functioning (Varni et al., 2001). Scores were calculated for each domain as well as an overall total score for each participant. The child (8-12 years old) and teen (13-18 years old) versions of this measure were utilized for this study. The PedsQL is a reliable measure that has been validated in several pediatric populations (Varni et al., 2001; 2015)

#### **Analytical Plan**

Statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS Version 28.0. Aim 1 was evaluated using 2 hierarchical regressions that examined allostatic load as a predictor of experimental pain sensitivity (i.e., cold pain intensity, temporal summation of mechanical
pain) while controlling for the following covariates: cold pain tolerance and child race. In aim 2, 3 linear regressions examined peer relationships, social functioning, and family impact as predictors of experimental pain sensitivity. These social factors were evaluated separately as they represent separate domains of social functioning and have not yet been explored as predictors of experimental pain sensitivity in this population. In aim 3, 1 multiple regression examine anxiety, depressive symptoms, ACEs, and psychological stress as predictors of experimental pain sensitivity. Finally, the exploratory aim involved 4 analyses of variance that examined racial (NHW vs. NHB) differences in clinical pain severity, experimental pain sensitivity, and hrQOL. Effect sizes were provided for all inferential statistical analyses. Cohen's *d* is interpreted such that 0.2 is a small effect, 0.5 is a medium effect, and 0.8 is a large effect. Cohen's *f*<sup>2</sup> is interpreted such that 0.02 is a small effect, 0.15 is a medium effect, and 0.35 is a large effect. Finally, guidelines for interpretation of  $\eta^2$  suggest that 0.01 is a small effect, 0.06 is a medium effect, and 0.14 is a large effect (Cohen, 1988).

## **A Priori Power Analysis**

Due to the exploratory nature of these analyses and the lack of current literature, analytic interpretation of results considered the ability to identify signals, effect sizes, and variability in the data, rather than statistical significance alone. At the time of proposal, an initial a priori power analysis was conducted using G\*Power 3.1. Estimated effect size was deduced from the adult pain literature (You & Meagher, 2016). A prior calculation for multiple regression (fixed model,  $R^2$  increase) with alpha = .05, power = .80, and total # of predictors = 4 suggested a sample size of N = 151 would be necessary for detecting *statistically significant* effects. However, previous research on pediatric pain outcome research suggests that a sample size of 100 participants should be sufficient for identifying reliable effect sizes and detecting sufficient variability in the data. This includes previous research conducted on topics of race, hrQOL, anxiety, depression, and other variables as they relate to pain-related outcomes in pediatric gastrointestinal and other painful conditions (Campo et al., 2004; Hoff et al., 2006; Lynch et al., 2018, 2021). A sample of 100 participants was also the most logistically (e.g., recruitment opportunities, timeline, effort) and financially feasible option as well. Therefore, a sample size of 100 youth (50 = NHW, 50 = NHB) was initially proposed to feasibly identify preliminary signals of these associations.

An additional power analysis was conducted during data collection to determine progress toward reaching necessary power. A more realistic and appropriate effect size was deduced from a study examining experimental pain sensitivity in youth with FAPDs (Morris et al., 2016). For Aim 1, a calculation for multiple regression (fixed model, R<sup>2</sup> increase) with Cohen's  $f^2 = .12$ , alpha = .05, power = .80, number of tested predictors, and total # of predictors = 7 suggested a sample size of N = 68. Similarly, a calculation for Aim 2 (i.e., Cohen's  $f^2 = .12$ , alpha = .05, power = .80, and total # of predictors = 1) yielded a sample size of N = 68. For Aim 3, the power analysis calculation (i.e., Cohen's  $f^2 = .12$ , alpha = .05, power = .80, number of tested predictors = 4, and total # of predictors = 4) yielded a sample size of N = 105.

The originally proposed sample size of 100 children was not met due to a slower rate of recruitment than expected. This is partially explained by the effects of the Omicron variant of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2022, families' unwillingness to allow their children to miss part of a school day for participation in the study due to

missing school because of their abdominal pain, and unwillingness to drive to the hospital for a separate appointment dedicated toward participation in research. The third reason listed was mitigated some by offering a transportation supplementary payment of \$20.00 to the incentives of families that indicated that the cost of transportation to the hospital was a barrier to participation.

## **Institutional Review Board Status**

Study recruitment and data collection methods were reviewed and approved by the University of Alabama at Birmingham Institutional Review Board (IRB #: 300002719). This was considered to be a low-risk study for all participants. Participants were appropriately screened for any potential health risks (i.e., pregnancy, hypertension). Participants received a small prize following blood collection. All participating families received a \$50.00 incentive at the end of participation. As mentioned previously, families demonstrating need received an additional \$20.00 for transportation costs.

## Timeline

Study recruitment and data collection occurred from April 2021 to December 2022. Total blood data was assayed and received January 2023. Analysis and manuscript preparation occurred from Spring – Summer 2023.

#### **Results**

#### **Data Preparation**

Data were entered into the REDCap data management system and exported to SPSS (Version 28.0). Data were assessed for outliers. One outlier data point for the social functioning variable was truncated to +3 standard deviations. Although 4 cold pain tolerance values were approximately 3 standard deviations away from the mean, these values were not truncated due to being within the variable range and representing important data (i.e., participants whose tolerance reached the maximum time allowed). Missing data were analyzed for all variables. 20 out of 75 participants (26.67%) were missing some data. However, most participants were only missing 1 data point. Cases with and without missing data were compared for statistically significant differences across all study variables. All variables with missing data were determined to be either missing at random (i.e., temporal summation, cold pain intensity, cold pain tolerance) or missing completely at random (i.e., hsCRP, family relationships, clinical pain severity). Hotdeck imputation was used to handle missing data in hsCRP [(17.33% of cases (N =13)], temporal summation of mechanical pain [(6.66% of cases (N = 5)], cold pain intensity [(6.66% of cases (N = 5)], cold pain tolerance [(6.66% of cases (N = 5)], family relationships [(1.33% of cases (N=1)], and 7-day abdominal pain severity relationships [(1.33% of cases (N=1)]]. Hotdeck imputation is considered an appropriate method for handling missing data when it is < 20% and missing at random or completely at random (Myers et al., 2011). Hotdeck imputation has been utilized in several other studies

examining experimental and clinical pain responses (Penn et al., 2020; Goodin et al., 2018; Thompson et al., 2019). Normality of dependent variables (after imputation) for Aims 1 -3 was assessed using Shapiro-Wilk test of normality and skewness and kurtosis. The temporal summation variable was not normal according to normality testing (Skewness = 1.334, Kurtosis = 1.104, Shapiro-Wilk p < .001). BoxCox transformations were considered for the temporal summation variable; however, transformation did not sufficiently improve normality. Thus, transformation was not used in final analyses as it did not provide statistical improvement of normality and would compromise empirically and clinically meaningful interpretation of results for temporal summation effects in the sample. All data were analyzed in their raw (i.e., non-transformed) form.

Assumption testing revealed that all other assumptions, including linearity, homoscedasticity, independence of errors, and multicollinearity, were met for Aims 1 – 3. Assumption testing for the exploratory aim (Aim 4) revealed that the assumption for multivariate normality was not met. Specifically, the Shapiro-Wilk rest revealed a lack of normality in the hrQOL (p = .033), clinical pain severity (p < .001), and temporal summation (p < .001) variables in the sample restricted to only NHW and NHB participants. Furthermore, the dependent variables were not all correlated with each other as is assumed in MANOVA. Thus, adjustments were made to the analytical plan for Aim 4 and additional analyses were explored.

#### **Preliminary Analyses**

#### Participant Characteristics

Participants (N=75) were 80.0% female, 77.3% Caucasian/White, 16.0% Black/African American, and 6.7% Multiracial, and 93.3% Non-Hispanic. Mean age was 13.97 years (range 8 - 18 years old). Regarding functional abdominal pain diagnosis; 46.7% of participants were diagnosed with functional dyspepsia, 34.7% were diagnosed with IBS, 2.7% were diagnosed with abdominal migraine, and 24.0% were diagnosed with functional abdominal pain – not otherwise specified. A paired-samples t-test revealed evidence of significant temporal summation effects across the sample (t = 7.812, p < .001) such that, on average, participants' pain rating in response to 10 contacts from the pinprick stimulator was higher than their pain rating in response to 1 contact from the pinprick stimulator. This indicates that the intended facilitatory pain effect was achieved by the temporal summation task. See **Table 2** for additional demographic characteristics of child-caregiver dyads. See **Table 3** for descriptive statistics for allostatic load, psychosocial functioning, experimental pain sensitivity, clinical pain severity, and covariates. Finally, see **Table 4** for relationships between biological, social, and psychological sources of stress, experimental and clinical pain responses, and demographic variables.

## **Biological Sources of Stress in Relation to Experimental Pain Sensitivity (Aim 1)**

Proposed covariates were evaluated for statistically significant associations with the experimental pain sensitivity variables, temporal summation of mechanical pain and cold pain intensity (see **Table 5**). One hierarchical regression was used to examine allostatic load risk in relation to temporal summation of mechanical pain while controlling for child race. A separate hierarchical regression was used to examine allostatic load risk in relation to cold pain intensity (i.e., pain rating from 0 to 100) after controlling for cold pain tolerance (i.e., time in seconds with hand in cold water) and child race.

There was no significant relationship between allostatic load risk and temporal summation of mechanical pain after controlling for child race (B = .408, t(72) = .128, p = .898,  $R^2 = .022$ , Cohen's  $f^2 = .022$ ). Similarly, there was no significant relationship between allostatic load risk and cold pain intensity after controlling for cold pain tolerance and child race ( $\beta = .126$ , t(71) = .354, p = .689,  $R^2 = .086$ , Cohen's  $f^2 = .094$ ). See **Table 6** for additional information.

## Social Sources of Stress in Relation to Experimental Pain Sensitivity (Aim 2)

As a covariate, cold pain tolerance was significantly associated with cold pain intensity such that decreased tolerance was associated with increased pain severity ratings  $(\beta = -.310, t(72) = -2.786, p = .007, R^2 = .096, \text{Cohen's } f^2 = .326)$  (see **Table 7**). See **Table 8 and 9** for initial correlations among social sources of stress and experimental pain variables.

#### Social Functioning in Relation to Experimental Pain Sensitivity

There was no significant relationship between social functioning and temporal summation of mechanical pain ( $\beta = -.059$ , t(73) = -.504, p = .616,  $R^2 = .003$ , Cohen's  $f^2 = .054$ ) (see **Table 10**). Similarly, social functioning was not significantly related to cold

pain intensity ( $\beta = .075$ , t(72) = .655, p = .514,  $R^2 = .073$ , Cohen's  $f^2 = .281$ ) after controlling for cold pain tolerance (see **Table 7**).

## Peer Relationships in Relation to Experimental Pain Sensitivity

Peer relationships were not significantly related to temporal summation of mechanical pain ( $\beta = -.148$ , t(73) = -.1.276, p = .206,  $R^2 = .022$ , Cohen's  $f^2 = .150$ ). Furthermore, peer relationships were also not significantly related to cold pain intensity after controlling for cold pain tolerance, ( $\beta = -.065$ , t(72) = -.581, p = .563,  $R^2 = .100$ , Cohen's  $f^2 = .333$ ).

## Family Relationships in Relation to Experimental Pain Sensitivity

Family relationships were not significantly related to temporal summation of mechanical pain ( $\beta = .150$ , t(73) = 1.285, p = .203,  $R^2 = .022$ , Cohen's  $f^2 = .150$ ) (see **Table 10**). Additionally, family relationships were not significantly related to cold pain intensity after controlling for cold pain tolerance ( $\beta = .051$ , t(72) = .445, p = .657,  $R^2 = .072$ , Cohen's  $f^2 = .279$ ) (see **Table 7**).

## Psychological Sources of Stress in Relation to Experimental Pain Sensitivity (Aim 3)

See **Tables 11 and 12** for initial correlations among psychological sources of stress and experimental pain variables.

Anxiety, Depressive Symptoms, Psychological Stress, and ACEs in Relation to Temporal Summation of Mechanical Pain

The total regression model examining anxiety, depressive symptoms, psychological stress, and ACEs in relation to temporal summation of mechanical pain was not significant ( $R^2 = .077$ , F(4, 70) = 1.465, p = .222, Cohen's  $f^2 = .279$ ). Anxiety ( $\beta = .112$ , t(70) = .595, p = .554), depressive symptoms ( $\beta = .364$ , t(70) = 1.497, p = .139), and ACEs ( $\beta = -.066$ , t(70) = -.567, p = .573) were each not uniquely related to temporal summation of mechanical pain. Psychological stress was the only statistically significant psychological variable in the model ( $\beta = -.550$ , t(70) = -2.345, p = .022). Increased psychological stress levels were associated with decreased temporal summation of mechanical pain. See **Table 13** for additional statistical information.

Anxiety, Depressive Symptoms, Psychological Stress, and ACEs in Relation to Cold Pain Intensity, Controlling for Cold Pain Tolerance.

The total regression model examining anxiety, depressive symptoms, psychological stress, and ACEs in relation to cold pain intensity controlling for cold pain tolerance reached statistical significance ( $R^2 = .165$ , F(5, 69) = 2.733, p = .026, Cohen's  $f^2 = .445$ ). However, none of the psychological variables in this model were uniquely and significantly related to cold pain intensity after controlling for cold pain tolerance. However, correlations among psychological variables demonstrated a significant positive relationship between greater anxiety and greater cold pain tolerance (r (73) = .192, p = .050). See **Table 14**.

# Racial Differences in Experimental and Clinical Pain Responses and Health-Related Quality of Life (Exploratory Aim)

See **Table 15** for relationships among the clinical and experimental pain response dependent variables. Four one-way ANOVAs examined differences in experimental (i.e., temporal summation of mechanical pain and cold pain intensity) and clinical (i.e., 7-day

abdominal pain severity) responses and hrQOL between NHW and NHB participants. Analyses revealed no significant differences between NHW and NHB participants on temporal summation (F(1, 64) = .473, p = .494, Cohen's d = .220), cold pain intensity (F(1, 64) = .752, p = .389, Cohen's d = .277, clinical pain severity (F (1, 64) = 1.973, p = .165, Cohen's d = .445), and hrQOL (F (1, 64) = .128, p = .722, Cohen's d = .115). See Tables 16 and 17 for additional statistical information. A non-parametric comparison of means using the Mann-Whitney two-sample rank-sum test was conducted for the nonnormal dependent variables: hrQOL, temporal summation of mechanical pain, and clinical pain severity. Mann-Whitney U tests demonstrated no significant differences in hrQOL ( $U = 306, p = .765, \eta^2 = .001$ ) or clinical pain severity ( $U = 237, p = .143, \eta^2 =$ .033) between NHW and NHB participants. However, one analysis did reveal statistically significant differences in temporal summation of mechanical pain between NHW and NHB participants such that NHW participants exhibited greater temporal summation effects compared to NHB participants ( $U = 191, p = .027, \eta^2 = .075$ ). See **Table 18** for additional statistical information.

#### Discussion

The present study examined the relationships among biopsychosocial sources of stress and experimental pain sensitivity in diverse youth with FAPDs. As an exploratory aim, this study also examined racial differences in experimental and clinical pain responses in NHW and NHB youth with FAPDs. Overall, findings suggested that the chosen biopsychosocial sources of stress, including allostatic load risk, peer relationships, social functioning, family relationships, anxiety, depressive symptoms, psychological stress, and ACEs, were not significant predictors of experimental pain sensitivity based on evaluation of temporal summation and cold pain tolerance and intensity. However, one finding suggested that psychological stress may be a significant predictor of decreased temporal summation of mechanical pain. Further, a significant relationship was observed between greater anxiety and greater cold pain tolerance. Overall, racial differences were not observed between NHW and NHB participants aside from one finding suggesting significant differences in temporal summation of mechanical pain. This study was limited by reduced power across several findings which may, in part, explain some of the non-significant findings. Many analyses produced medium and medium to large effect sizes. Thus, this study provides some initial evidence of relationships between biopsychosocial sources of stress and pain in diverse youth with FAPDs that should be evaluated in future studies.

Regarding Aim 1, allostatic load risk did not significantly predict either temporal summation of mechanical pain or cold pain intensity after controlling for cold pain tolerance as hypothesized. However, the analysis between allostatic load and cold pain intensity did produce a small to medium effect size which provides a signal of a potentially meaningful association between these two variables. Although the literature suggests a relationship between allostatic load and pain severity (Sibille et al., 2017; Slade et al., 2012), less is understood about the mechanistic relationship between allostatic load and endogenous pain processing (Wallden & Nijhs, 2019). Research on allostatic load in pediatric pain populations suggests that it is the increased activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and increased release of cortisol that may be driving the relationship between allostatic load and pain in children (Nelson et al., 2017). It is proposed that markers of neuroendocrine functioning, and specifically cortisol, leads to greater overall sensitization across body systems, including those that are responsible for regulating pain signals (Kendall-Tackett, 2000). It is possible that there was not a significant relationship between allostatic load risk and experimental pain sensitivity in the current study because our allostatic load risk variable was limited by the data available and did not include these key indicators of chronic hyperarousal. See the limitations section for additional details.

However, allostatic load risk was significantly related to anxiety such that greater anxiety predicted greater allostatic load risk. This finding aligns with literature that suggests consistent relationships between anxiety and other mood disorders and allostatic load (D'Alessio et al., 2020; Guidi et al., 2021). Although the neurobiological mechanisms driving this relationship are not well established, recent literature using animal models suggests that allostasis may be an adaptive mechanism that buffers against the negative effects of chronic stress and anxiety (Ullmann et al., 2019). This positive association between anxiety and allostatic load risk suggests sufficient construct validity and indicates that the allostatic load risk variable is clinically relevant. Furthermore, since allostatic load is meant to capture the cumulative effects of chronic stress on one's physical body over time (Guidi et al., 2021; Nelson et al., 2021), it might be less likely to observe relationships between allostatic load and pain in a pediatric sample. This is because youth are likely to have only experienced chronic psychological/social stress for a few consecutive years thus far. Finally, it is also possible that there are resilience factors that may buffer youth from the harmful effects of allostatic load which were not accounted for in the present study. For example, research suggests that parent-child bonding and social support may be protective factors against allostatic overload in adults (Juster et al., 2010). Future research should assess the protective roles of these and other variables in pediatric samples.

Regarding Aim 2, none of the social sources of stress (i.e., social functioning, peer relationships, and family relationships) predicted experimental pain sensitivity as hypothesized. However, several analyses revealed medium effect sizes which may suggest that these associations would have been statistically significant with a greater sample size. Although research supports significant associations between family and social functioning on a child's self-reported pain severity and disability (Feldman et al., 2010; Peterson & Palermo, 2004; Walker et al., 2006), there is little research which has examined the contribution of social deficits to endogenous pain processing in pediatric chronic pain populations. Although research suggests that social pain shares the same

neural activation patterns as physical pain (Eisenberger, 2012), this finding applies more to acute experiences of social attachment and rejection and may not translate to markers of long-standing social and family functioning. This research has also only been conducted in adults thus far, and the impacts of social deficits on pain in children is less understood at this time.

It is also possible that these social factors have an impact on one's cognitive appraisal of their pain experience but do not necessarily correlate with psychophysiological differences in experimental pain sensitivity. One study found that negative cognitive appraisal was a significant mediator between social support and social undermining and clinical pain severity in adult women with acute pain (Gaffey et al., 2020). In this study, social undermining was defined as one's perception of experiencing "aggressive or threatening behavior" from another person as a result of one or more stressful interpersonal social interactions and/or relationships (Gaffey et al., 2020). Women who experienced greater social undermining experienced a more negative cognitive appraisal of their pain which was associated with higher self-reported pain severity (Gaffey et al., 2020). Studies of experimental pain sensitivity in the laboratory setting suggest that greater social support is associated with higher pain thresholds (i.e., reduced pain sensitivity) during quantitative sensory tests including the cold pressor task (Roberts et al., 2015). Taken together, these findings suggest that social support, or lack thereof, might be a more salient predictor of either clinical or experimental pain responses compared to global measures of social or family functioning. Of note, the majority of this research has been conducted in adult populations, and thus, more

investigation is needed to determine if these associations translate to children and adolescents with chronic pain.

There were some significant relationships among the social sources of stress and other variables in the present study. Social functioning was negatively associated with anxiety, depressive symptoms, and psychological stress, and positively associated with peer relationships. Thus, in the current sample, it appears that greater social functioning was related to better psychological functioning due to decreased amounts of anxiety, depression, and perceived stress. This finding is well supported in the literature, which largely demonstrates positive associations between social and psychological functioning in children and adolescents (Bell-Dolan et al., 1993; Motoca et al., 2012; Lau, 2002). For this particular sample, these relationships may be, in part, explained by social stigma that is often experienced by children and adolescents living with chronically painful conditions. Literature suggests that youth with chronic pain conditions often spend considerable energy concealing their pain symptoms to avoid negative social experiences (Wakefield et al., 2021). Furthermore, this constant effort to conceal has been associated with greater cognitive burden and related emotional difficulties (Wakefield et al., 2021). Thus, our findings point to the possibility that youth with FAPDs may experience stigma and other social stressors that can have deleterious effects on their emotional wellness.

Regarding Aim 3, anxiety, depressive symptoms, and ACEs did not predict either experimental pain sensitivity variable. For the relationship between these variables and cold pain intensity, it is possible that the variance in cold pain intensity was largely accounted for by cold pain tolerance given the strong relationship between these two variables. However, psychological stress was associated with temporal summation such that greater psychological stress predicted reduced temporal summation. This finding may be partially explained by stress-induced analgesia. Stress-induced analgesia refers to a phenomenon in which acute stress is associated with reduced pain sensitivity in experimental tests of ascending pain pathways (e.g., wind-up) (Bruehl et al., 2022). Findings on the role of stress-induced analgesia in reducing temporal summation are mixed; some studies suggest that greater acute stress leads to reduced summation, suggesting less excitatory pain (Coppieters et al., 2016) while other studies demonstrate the opposite effect (Mertens et al., 2020). Nevertheless, it is possible that the participants in the present study could have experienced stress-induced analgesia resulting from the mild but acutely stressful experience of undergoing painful quantitative sensory testing procedures at a young age. This study would be improved by measuring momentary stress levels in participants prior to administering the pain testing protocol so that this could be factored into the analytical model.

Although most psychosocial sources of stress were not significantly related to experimental pain variables, findings demonstrated positive associations between clinical pain severity and anxiety, depressive symptoms, and psychological stress. This finding is supported by the literature demonstrating robust associations between pain and mental health outcomes (Campo et al., 2004; Mahrer et al., 2012). These results suggest that psychological symptoms may be a more salient driver of the pain experiences of children living with FAPDs compared to the social or biological predictors utilized in the present study. Literature suggests that the effect of emotional functioning on pain is unique to the individual but that the general tendency is for negative affect to precede pain symptoms (Frumkin & Rodebaugh, 2021). It is possible that the differential findings between the biological and psychological stressors are due to a greater amount of time required for biological mechanisms to affect physiological pain processes (e.g., central sensitization) that can be detected by quantitative sensory testing (Guidi et al., 2021; Nelson et al., 2021).

Overall, exploratory analyses did not reveal significant differences between NHW and NHB participants on clinical and experimental pain responses as was hypothesized. Although one analysis revealed significantly greater temporal summation of mechanical pain in NHW participants compared to NHB participants, this finding should be interpreted with caution given that it was not replicated across other analyses. Although research suggests race-based differences across clinical and experimental pain responses in adult populations (Ahn et al., 2017; Vaughn et al., 2019), less is known about the role of race in subjective and objective experiences of pain in youth. It is possible that racial differences in pain do not manifest until adulthood, but more research is needed. In an examination of temporal summation of heat pain in healthy youth, Morris and colleagues (2015a) found that NHW participants exhibited temporal summation effects, but African American participants did not. The same study also study found higher evoked pain responses in African American participants compared to NHW which potentially suggests higher initial pain sensitivity but no significant race-based differences in excitatory pain processes (Morris et al., 2015a). Taken together, the findings from this study and the present study suggest that race-based differences in experimental pain sensitivity may not be consistent in pediatric populations and that more research, particularly using longitudinal designs, is needed to answer this question. Additionally, it is also possible that racial differences in pediatric pain populations may be less dependent on differences in skin color and racial identity but are rather influenced by social determinants of health such as socioeconomic status and discrimination. Similar to allostatic load, research suggests these social stressors have a cumulative effect on health over the lifetime (Braveman et al., 2011). Thus, race-based differences in pain may not manifest until later adolescence or adulthood due to a greater accumulative effect of stress on physical health over time.

Almost all analyses examining race-based differences in this sample were limited by power. A few analyses examining racial differences in clinical pain severity and temporal summation produced small to medium effect sizes, suggesting that, with a larger sample size, race-based differences across these variables might reach statistical significance. Along with issues related to power, the exploratory analyses for the present study were likely affected by unequal sample sizes across the two racial groups (NHW = 54, NHB = 12). These analyses would be more robust if the NHW and NHB sample sizes were more equal, and this should be prioritized in future replications of the present study.

## Limitations

The following limitations should be considered for the present study. Several analyses suffered from a lack of statistical power due to reduced sample size. However, a few analyses still demonstrated medium effect sizes and, as such, provide signals for potentially meaningful findings. Nevertheless, findings should be interpreted with caution as replication with a larger sample size is needed. Furthermore, our measure of allostatic load was limited by the biomarker data available for use. Thus, our allostatic load measure was one of allostatic load "risk," combining measures of cardiometabolic risk and inflammatory risk. Although this is in accordance with research guidelines on

allostatic load measurement (Wiley et al., 2016), the present study would benefit from a more robust measure of allostatic load involving the following variables; hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis activation, cortisol, waist-to-hip ratio, and lipid and glucose levels. The more limited measurement of allostatic load may not be as salient for physiological mechanisms implicated in pain, which may partially explain our lack of significant findings related to this variable. Finally, the present study failed to account for a few important variables that may help explain some important associations. As discussed previously, this study did not capture some of the known pain-related protective factors that may buffer youth with FAPDs from the harmful effects of biopsychosocial sources of stress on pain sensitivity. This study would be improved by measuring such factors as cognitive appraisal of pain, social support, pain catastrophizing, and pain coping. Regarding the exploratory examination of race-based differences in pain, the present study would be improved by assessing social determinants of health associated with racial health disparities such as socioeconomic status and discrimination.

## **Implications and Future Directions**

The present study contributes to the literature by examining comprehensive biopsychosocial sources of stress in youth with FAPDs. Little attention has been given to the neurobiological underpinnings of pain in pediatric FAPDs. This study addressed this gap in the literature by using a protocolized quantitative sensory testing battery to assess ascending pain processing in this population. The findings from this study suggest that many of these biopsychosocial sources of stress may not have the same direct impact on pain processing in children as is evidenced in the adult pain literature. However, findings from this study suggest that psychological stress and anxiety, in particular, may be related to physiological differences in youth with FAPDs (i.e., pain processing, allostatic load) that may contribute to their pain experience. Additionally, the significant relationships between psychological functioning variables and clinical pain severity suggest that providers should regularly screen pediatric FAPD patients for comorbid psychological symptoms such as anxiety and depression. Detection of such symptoms in the clinical setting may present greater opportunities to provide diagnostic education and referral to psychological treatment, which in turn could improve the child's clinical course and reduce pain severity over time.

More research in this population is needed to better understand how various types of stress may impact clinical and experimental responses in youth with FAPDs. In particular, there is a need for research using longitudinal designs to understand the developmental timeline of the relationships between chronic stress and pain that is represented in the adult pain literature. There is still a great need for research in racially minoritized youth with FAPDs. Thus, longitudinal models using racially diverse samples would help to specifically understand the developmental trajectory of racial differences in self-reported and quantitative measures of pain which are observed in the adult pain literature.

#### Conclusions

To our knowledge, this was the first study to examine the relationships between biopsychosocial sources of stress and experimental pain sensitivity in youth with FAPDs. The results of this study largely did not support overall hypotheses suggesting that greater evidence of stress across these areas would be associated with greater pain sensitivity. However, the lack of statistically significant findings may be due, in part, to study

44

limitations. This study provides a foundation for additional research that will elucidate the factors that contribute most to pain in youth with FAPDs. Research that builds upon the current study could help better understand the mechanisms underlying pain sensitivity in youth with FAPDs. Furthermore, these findings could prompt research examining important targets for clinical interventions aimed at reducing pain severity and improving health-related quality of life in this population.

#### References

- About Child and Teen BMI. (2021). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/childrens\_bmi/about\_childrens bmi.html
- Ahn, H., Weaver, M., Lyon, D.E., Kim, J., Choi, E., Staud, R., & Fillingim, R.B. (2017).
  Differences in clinical pain and experimental pain sensitivity between Asian
  Americans and Whites with Knee osteoarthritis. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, *33*(2), 174–180. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.0000000000378
- Albarran-slovin, M., Albarran-slovin, M.C., & Fuller, M. G. (2021). Doctor of nursing practice final manuscripts identifying adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) in a federally qualified health center using the Pediatric ACEs and Related Life Events Screener. *Doctor of Nursing Practice Final Manuscripts, 146*.
- Anderson, J. L., Acra, S., Bruehl, S., & Walker, L. S. (2008). Relation between clinical symptoms and experimental visceral hypersensitivity in pediatric patients with functional abdominal pain. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 47(3), 309–315. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPG.0b013e3181653a6f
- Bakshi, N., Lukombo, I., Shnol, H., Belfer, I., & Krishnamurti, L. (2017). Psychological characteristics and pain frequency are associated with experimental pain sensitivity in pediatric patients with sickle cell disease. *Journal of Pain*, 18(10), 1216–1228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2017.05.005

- Bauman, L. J., Silver, E. J., & Stein, R. E. K. (2006). Cumulative social disadvantage and child health. *Pediatrics*, 117(4), 1321–1328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2005-1647</u>
- Beesdo, K., Hoyer, J., Jacobi, F., Low, N. C. P., Höfler, M., & Wittchen, H. U. (2009).
  Association between generalized anxiety levels and pain in a community sample:
  Evidence for diagnostic specificity. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 23(5), 684–693.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2009.02.007">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2009.02.007</a>
- Bell-Dolan, D.J., Reaven, N.M., & Peterson, L. (1993). Depression and social functioning: A multidimensional study of the linkages. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 22(3), 306-315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp2203\_1</u>
- Bevans, K. B., Gardner, W., Pajer, K. A., Becker, B., Carle, A., Tucker, C. A., & Forrest,
  C. B. (2018). Psychometric evaluation of the ProMISVR pediatric psychological and physical stress experiences measures. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 43(6), 678–692. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsy010
- Birnie, K. A., Parker, J. A., & Chambers, C. T. (2016). Relevance of water temperature, apparatus, and age to children's pain during the cold pressor task. *Pain Practice*, *16*(1), 46–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/papr.12257
- Bode, G., Brenner, H., Adler, G., & Rothenbacher, D. (2003). Recurrent abdominal pain in children: Evidence from a population-based study that social and familial factors play a major role but not Helicobacter pylori infection. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 54(5), 417–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00459-2

- Bradford, K., Shih, W., Videlock, E. J., Presson, A. P., Naliboff, B. D., Mayer, E. A., & Chang, L. (2012). Association between early adverse life events and irritable bowel syndrome. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *10*(4), 385-390.e3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2011.12.018</u>.
- Braveman, P., Egerter, S., & Williams, D.R. (2011). The social determinants of health: Coming of age. *Annual Reviews, 32*, 381-398.
- Brody, G. H., Lei, M.K., Chen, E., & Miller, G.E. (2014). Neighborhood poverty and allostatic load in African American youth. *Pediatrics*, *134*(5), e1362–e1368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-1395</u>
- Bruehl, S., Morris, M.C., & al'Absi, M. (2022). Stress-induced analgesia: An evaluation of effects on temporal summation of pain and the role of endogenous opioid mechanisms. *Pain Reports*, 7(2), e987.
- Brusaferro, A., Farinelli, E., Zenzeri, L., Cozzali, R., & Esposito, S. (2018). The management of paediatric functional abdominal pain disorders: Latest evidence. *Pediatric Drugs*, 20(3), 235–247. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40272-018-0287-z
- Calcaterra, V., Vinci, F., Casari, G., Pelizzo, G., de Silvestri, A., de Amici, M., Albertini,
  R., Regalbuto, C., Montalbano, C., Larizza, D., & Cena, H. (2019). Evaluation of
  allostatic load as a marker of chronic stress in children and the importance of
  excess weight. *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2019.00335

- Campo, J., Bridge, J., Ehmann, M., Altman, S., Lucas, A., Birmaher, B., di Lorenzo, C., Iyengar, S., & Brent, D.A. (2004). Recurrent abdominal pain, anxiety, and depression in primary care. *Pediatrics*, *113*(4), 817–824. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.113.4.817
- Campo, J., Bridge, J., Lucas, A., Savorelli, S., Walker, L., Di Lorenzo, C., Inyengar, S.,
  & Brent, D.A. (2007). Physical and emotional health of mothers of youth with functional abdominal pain. *Archives of Pediatric Adolesscent Medicine*, *161*, 131-137.
- Carter, B., Lambrenos, K., & Thursfield, J. (2002). A pain workshop: An approach to eliciting the views of young people with chronic pain. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*.
- Cervero, F., & Laird, J.M.A. (1999). Visceral pain. *Lancet*, 353 (9170), 2145–2148. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(99)01306-9
- Chitkara, D.K., Rawat, D.J., & Talley, N.J. (2005). The epidemiology of childhood recurrent abdominal pain in western countries: A systematic review. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, *100*(8), 1868–1875. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2005.41893.x
- Chyu, L., & Upchurch, D.M. (2011). Racial and ethnic patterns of allostatic load among adult women in the United States: Findings from the national health and nutrition examination survey 1999-2004. *Journal of Women's Health*, 20(4), 575–583. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2010.2170
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical Power Analyses for the Behavioral Sciences*. New York, NY: Routledge Academic.

Coppieters, I., Cagnie, B., Nijs, J., van Oosterwijck, J., Daneels, L., De Pauw, R., & Meeus, M. (2016). Effects of stress and relaxation on central pain modulation in chronic whiplash and fibromyalgia patients compared to health controls. *Pain Physician*, 19(3), 119-130.

Coutinho, S., Plotsky, P.M., Sablad, M., Miller, J.C., Zhou, H., Bayati, A.I., McRoberts, J.A., & Mayer, E.A. (2002). Neonatal maternal separation alters stress-induced responses to viscerosomatic nociceptive stimuli in rat. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 282(242-245). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00240.2001

D'Alessio, L.D., Korman, G.P., Sarudiansky, M., Guelman, L.R., Scevola, L., Pastore,
A., Obregon, A., & Roldan, E.J.A. (2020). Reducing allostatic load in depression
and anxiety disorders: Physical activity and yoga practice as add-on therapies. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11(501).

Devanarayana, N.M., Rajindrajith, S., Bandara, C., Shashiprabha, G., & Benninga, M.A. (2013a). Ultrasonographic assessment of liquid gastric emptying and antral motility according to the subtypes of irritable bowel syndrome in children. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 56(4), 443–448. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPG.0b013e31827f7a3d

Devanarayana, N.M., Rajindrajith, S., Perera, M.S., Nishanthanie, S.W., & Benninga,
M.A. (2013b). Gastric emptying and antral motility parameters in children with
functional dyspepsia: Association with symptom severity. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology (Australia)*, 28(7), 1161–1166.
https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.12205

Devanarayana, N.M., Rajindrajith, S., Rathnamalala, N., Samaraweera, S., & Benninga, M.A. (2012). Delayed gastric emptying rates and impaired antral motility in children fulfilling Rome III criteria for functional abdominal pain. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility*, 24(5), 420–425.
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2982.2011.01871.x

di Lorenzo, C., Youssef, N.N., Sigurdsson, L., Scharff, L., Griffiths, J., & Wald, A.
(2001). Visceral hyperalgesia in children with functional abdominal pain. *Journal* of Pediatrics, 139(6), 838–843. https://doi.org/10.1067/mpd.2001.118883

Dorn, S.D., Palsson, O.S., Thiwan, S.I.M., Kanazawa, M., Clark, W.C., van Tilburg, M.A.L., Drossman, D.A., Scarlett, Y., Levy, R.L., Ringel, Y., Crowell, M.D., Olden, K.W., & Whitehead, W.E. (2007). Increased colonic pain sensitivity in irritable bowel syndrome is the result of an increased tendency to report pain rather than increased neurosensory sensitivity. *Gut*, *56*(9), 1202–1209. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2006.117390

- Drossman, D.A. (2008). Severe and refractory chronic abdominal pain: Treatment strategies. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 6(9), 978–982. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2008.04.024
- Drossman, D. A., Leserman, J., Nachman, G., Li, Z., Gluck, H., Toomey, T. C., & Mitchell, M. (1990). Sexual and physical abuse in women with functional or organic gastrointestinal disorders. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 113, 828–833.

Duong, M.T., Bingham, B.A., Aldana, P.C., Chung, S.T., & Sumner, A.E. (2017).
Variation in the calculation of allostatic load score: 21 examples from NHANES. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 4(3), 455–461.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-016-0246-8

- Duru, O.K., Harawa, N.T., Kermah, D., & Norris, K.C. (2012). Allostatic load burden and racial disparities in mortality. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 104(2).
- Eisenberger, N.I. (2012). The neural bases of social pain: Evidence for shared representations with physical pain. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 74(2), 126-135.
  doi: <u>10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182464dd1</u>.
- Ersig, A.L., Brown, R.L., & Malecki, K. (2021). Clinical measures of allostatic load in children and adolescents with food allergy, depression, or anxiety. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 61, 346–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2021.08.025
- Faure, C., & Wieckowska, A. (2007). Somatic referral of visceral sensations and rectal sensory threshold for pain in children with functional gastrointestinal disorders. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 150(1), 66–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2006.08.072
- Feldman, J.M., Ortega, A.N., Koinis-Mitchell, D., Kuo, A.A., & Canino, G. (2010). Child and family psychiatric and psychological factors associated with child physical health problems: Results from the Boricua Youth Study. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 198(4), 272–279.

https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181d61271

Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V.,

Koss, M. P., Marks, J. S., & Perma-Nente, K. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine*, *14*(4), 245-258.

- Ford, A.C., Bercik, P., Morgan, D.G., Bolino, C., Pintos-Sanchez, M.I., & Moayyedi, P. (2014). Characteristics of functional bowel disorder patients: A cross-sectional survey using the Rome III criteria. *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 39(3), 312–321. https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.12573
- Forgeron, P.A., Evans, J., Mcgrath, P.J., Stevens, B., Finley, A., & Faap, F. (2013). Living with difference: Exploring the social self of adolescents with chronic pain. *Pain Research and Management*, 18(6), e115-e123.
- Forgeron RN MN, P. A., King, S., Stinson RN NP-Peds, J. N., McGrath OC, P. J., MacDonald, A. J., & Chambers, C. T. (2010). Social functioning and peer relationships in children and adolescents with chronic pain: A systematic review. *Pain Research and Management*, 15(1), 27-41.
- Frumkin, M.R., & Rodebaugh, T.L. (2021). The role of affect in chronic pain: A systematic review of within-person symptom dynamics. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 147.

Gaffey, A.E., Burns, J.W., Aranda, F., Purim-Shem-Tov, Y.A., Burgess, H.J., Beckham, J.C., Bruehl, S., & Hobfoll, S.E. (2020). Social support, social undermining, and acute clinical pain in women: Mediational pathways of negative cognitive appraisal and emotion. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 25(13-14), 2328-2339.

- Galley, J.D., Nelson, M.C., Yu, Z., Dowd, S.E., Walter, J., Kumar, P.S., Lyte, M., & Bailey, M.T. (2014). Exposure to a social stressor disrupts the community structure of the colonic mucosa-associated microbiota. *BMC Microbiology*, *14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-14-189
- Gareau, M.G., Jury, J., & Perdue, M.H. (2007). Neonatal maternal separation of rat pups results in abnormal cholinergic regulation of epithelial permeability. *American Journal of Physiology- Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 293*, 198–203. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00392.2006.-Neonatal
- Gareau, M. G., Jury, J., Yang, P. C., Macqueen, G., & Perdue, M. H. (2006). Neonatal maternal separation causes colonic dysfunction in rat pups including impaired host resistance. *Pediatric Research*, 59(1), 83–88. https://doi.org/10.1203/01.pdr.0000190577.62426.45
- Goodin, B.R., Owens, M.A., White, D.M., Strath, L.J., Gonzalez, C., Rainey, R.L.,
  Okunbor, J.I., Heath, S.L., Turan, J.M., & Merlin, J.S. (2018). Intersectional
  health-related stigma in persons living with HIV and chronic pain: Implications
  for depressive symptoms. *AIDS Care, 30*(2), 66-73.
- Groenewald, C.B., Murray, C.B., & Palermo, T.M. (2020). Adverse childhood experiences and chronic pain among children and adolescents in the United States. *Pain Reports*, 5(5), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1097/PR9.00000000000839

Grover, M., & Drossman, D.A. (2010). Functional abdominal pain. Current

*Gastroenterology Reports, 12*(5), 391–398. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11894-010-0125-0

- Guidi, J., Lucente, M., Sonino, N., & Fava, G. A. (2021). Allostatic load and its impact on health: A systematic review. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 90(1), 11– 27. https://doi.org/10.1159/000510696
- Gulewitsch, M.D., Weimer, K., Enck, P., Schwille-Kiuntke, J., Hautzinger, M., &
  Schlarb, A.A. (2017). Stress reactivity in childhood functional abdominal pain or irritable bowel syndrome. *European Journal of Pain (United Kingdom)*, 21(1), 166–177. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.914

High Blood Pressure. (2022, October 14). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

- Hoekman, D.R., Rutten, J.M.T.M., Vlieger, A.M., Benninga, M.A., & Dijkgraaf, M.G.W.
  (2015). Annual costs of care for pediatric irritable bowel syndrome, functional abdominal pain, and functional abdominal pain syndrome. *Journal of Pediatrics*, *167*(5), 1103-1108.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2015.07.058
- Hoff, A.L., Palermo, T.M., Schluchter, M., Zebracki, K., & Drotar, D. (2006).
  Longitudinal relationships of depressive symptoms to pain intensity and functional disability among children with disease-related pain. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *31*(10), 1046–1056. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsj076

Hollier, J.M., van Tilburg, M.A.L., Liu, Y., Czyzewski, D.I., Self, M.M., Weidler, E.M., Heitkemper, M., & Shulman, R.J. (2019). Multiple psychological factors predict abdominal pain severity in children with irritable bowel syndrome. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility*, *31*(2), e13509. https://doi.org/10.1111/nmo.13509

- Jacobson, C.J., Kashikar-Zuck, S., Farrell, J., Barnett, K., Goldschneider, K., Dampier, C., Cunningham, N., Crosby, L., & Dewitt, E.M. (2015). Qualitative evaluation of pediatric pain behavior, quality, and intensity item candidates and the PROMIS pain domain framework in children with chronic pain. *Journal of Pain*, 16(12), 1243–1255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2015.08.007
- Jiang, Y., & Travagli, R.A. (2020). Hypothalamic–vagal oxytocinergic neurocircuitry modulates gastric emptying and motility following stress. *Journal of Physiology*, 598(21), 4941–4955. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP280023
- Ju, Y.C., Antonopoulos, D.A., Kalra, A., Tonelli, A., Khalife, W.T., Schmidt, T.M., & Young, V.B. (2008). Decreased diversity of the fecal microbiome in recurrent clostridium difficile-associated diarrhea. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 197(3), 435–438. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/525047</u>
- Juster, R., McEwen, B.S., & Lupien, S.J. (2010). Allostatic load biomarkers of chronic stress and impact on health and cognition. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35, 2-16.
- Kashikar-Zuck, S., Carle, A., Barnett, K., Goldschneider, K.R., Sherry, D.D., Mara, C.A., Cunningham, N., Farrell, J., Tress, J., & Dewitt, E.M. (2016). Longitudinal evaluation of patient-reported outcomes measurement information systems measures in pediatric chronic pain. *Pain*, *157*(2), 339–347. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000000378

- Kashikar-Zuck, S., Lynch, A. M., Graham, T. B., Swain, N. F., Mullen, S. M., & Noll, R.
  B. (2007). Social functioning and peer relationships of adolescents with juvenile fibromyalgia syndrome. *Arthritis Care and Research*, *57*(3), 474–480.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/art.22615
- Kendall-Tackett, K.A. (2000). Physiological correlates of childhood abuse: Chronic hyperarousal in PTSD, depression, and irritable bowel syndrome. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 24*(6), 799-810.
- Kim, H.J., Yang, G.S., Greenspan, J.D., Downton, K.D., Griffith, K.A., Renn, C.L., Johantgen, M., & Dorsey, S.G. (2017). Racial and ethnic differences in experimental pain sensitivity: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pain*, 158(2), 194–211. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.0000000000000731
- Korterink, J., Devanarayana, N.M., Rajindrajith, S., Vlieger, A., & Benninga, M.A.
  (2015a). Childhood functional abdominal pain: Mechanisms and management. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *12*(3), 159–171.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/nrgastro.2015.21
- Korterink, J.J., Diederen, K., Benninga, M.A., & Tabbers, M.M. (2015b). Epidemiology of pediatric functional abdominal pain disorders: A meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(5), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0126982</u>
- Ladd, C., Owens, M.J., & Nemeroff, C.B. (1996). Persistent changes in corticotropinreleasing factor neuronal systems induced by maternal deprivation. *Endocrinology*, 137(4), 1212-1217.
- Laird, K.T., Smith, C.A., Hollon, S.D., & Walker, L.S. (2020). Validation of the Health-

Related Felt Stigma and Concealment Questionnaire. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 45(5), 509–520. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsaa030

- Lau, B.W.K. (2002). Does the stress in childhood and adolescence matter? A psychological perspective. *The Journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health*, 122(4), 238-244.
- Lewandowski Holley, A., Law, E.F., Zhou, C., Murphy, L., Clarke, G., & Palermo, T.M. (2013). Reciprocal longitudinal associations between pain and depressive symptoms in adolescents. *European Journal of Pain (United Kingdom)*, 17(7), 1058–1067. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1532-2149.2012.00272.x
- Lewis, M.L., Palsson, O.S., Whitehead, W.E., & van Tilburg, M.A.L. (2016). Prevalence of functional gastrointestinal disorders in children and adolescents. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 177, 39-43.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.04.008
- Li, R., Holley, A.L., Palermo, T.M., Ohls, O., Edwards, R.R., & Rabbitts, J.A. (2023). Feasibility and reliability of a quantitative sensory testing protocol in youth with acute musculoskeletal pain postsurgery or postinjury. *Pain.* Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000002865
- Little, C.A., Williams, S.E., Puzanovova, M., Rudzinski, E.R., & Walker, L.S. (2007).
   Multiple somatic symptoms linked to positive screen for depression in pediatric patients with chronic abdominal pain. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 44(1), 58–62. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mpg.0000243423.93968.7c

Lynch, M.K., Barnes, M.J., Dimmitt, R.A., Martin, L., Rothenberg, M.E., & Goodin,

B.R. (2018). Disease-related predictors of health-related quality of life in youth with eosinophilic esophagitis. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *43*(4), 464–471. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsx128

- Mahrer, N.E., Montaño, Z., & Gold, J.I. (2012). Relations between anxiety sensitivity, somatization, and health-related quality of life in children with chronic pain. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *37*(7), 808–816. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jss054
- Martin, A.L., McGrath, P.A., Brown, S.C., & Katz, J. (2007). Anxiety sensitivity, fear of pain and pain-related disability in children and adolescents with chronic pain. *Pain Research and Management*, 12, 267-272.
- Maruvada, P., Leone, V., Kaplan, L.M., & Chang, E.B. (2017). The human microbiome and obesity: Moving beyond associations. *Cell Host and Microbe*, 22(5), 589– 599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2017.10.005
- Mayer, E.A., Bradesi, S., Chang, L., Spiegel, B.M.R., Bueller, J.A., & Naliboff, B.D.
  (2008). Functional GI disorders: From animal models to drug development. *Gut*, 57(3), 384–404. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2006.101675
- Medrano, G.R., Berlin, K.S., & Davies, W.H. (2013). Utility of the PedsQLTM family impact module: Assessing the psychometric properties in a community sample.
   *Quality of Life Research*, 22(10), 2899–2907. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-013-0422-9</u>
- Mertens, M., Hermans, L., Van Oosterwijck, J., Meert, L., Crombez, G., Struyf, F., & Meeus, M. (2020). The result of acute induced psychosocial tress on pain sensitivity and modulation in healthy people. *Pain Physician*, 23(6), e703-3712.

- Morris, M.C., Bruehl, S., Stone, A.L., Garber, J., Smith, C., Palermo, T.M., & Walker, L.S. (2022). Place and pain: Association between neighborhood SES and quantitative sensory testing responses in youth with functional abdominal pain. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 47(4), 446–455. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsab113
- Morris, M.C., Walker, L., Bruehl, S., Hellman, N., Sherman, A.L., & Rao, U. (2015a). Race effects on temporal summation to heat pain in youth. *Pain*, 156(5), 917–922. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000129
- Morris, M.C., Walker, L., Bruehl, S., Hellman, N., Sherman, A.L., & Rao, U. (2015b).
  Race effects on conditioned pain modulation in youth. *Journal of Pain*, *16*(9), 873–880. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2015.06.001
- Morris, M.C., Walker, L.S., Bruehl, S., Stone, A.L., Mielock, A.S., & Rao, U. (2016).
  Impaired conditioned pain modulation in youth with functional abdominal pain. *Pain*, 157(10), 2375–2381. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000000660
- Motoca, L.M., Williams, S., & Silverman, W.K. (2012). Social skills as a mediator between anxiety symptoms and peer interactions among children and adolescents. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 41(3), 329-336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2012.668843</u>
- Myers, T.A. (2011). Goodbye, listwise deletion: Presenting hot deck imputation as an easy and effective tool for handling missing data. *Communication Methods and Measures*, *5*(4), 297-310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19312458.2011.624490</u>
- Nelson, S., Bento, S., & Enlow, M.B. (2021). Biomarkers of allostatic load as correlates
of impairment in youth with chronic pain: An initial investigation. *Children*, 8(8), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.3390/children8080709

- Nelson, S., & Cunningham, N. (2020). The impact of posttraumatic stress disorder on clinical presentation and psychosocial treatment response in youth with functional abdominal pain disorders: An exploratory study. *Children*, 7(6), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.3390/children7060056
- Nelson, S.M., Cunningham, N.R., & Kashikar-Zuck, S. (2017). A conceptual framework for understanding the role of adverse childhood experiences in pediatric chronic pain. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, 33(3), 264–270. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.00000000000397
- Nieto, R., Sora, B., Boixadós, M., & Ruiz, G. (2020). Understanding the experience of functional abdominal pain through written narratives by families. *Pain Medicine* (United States), 21(6), 1093–1105. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnz147
- Ochi, M., Tominaga, K., Tanaka, F., Tanigawa, T., Shiba, M., Watanabe, T., Fujiwara,
  Y., Oshitani, N., Higuchi, K., & Arakawa, T. (2008). Effect of chronic stress on
  gastric emptying and plasma ghrelin levels in rats. *Life Sciences*, 82(15–16), 862–
  868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2008.01.020
- Overstreet, D.S., Michl, A.N., Penn, T.M., Rumble, D.D., Aroke, E.N., Sims, A.M.,
  King, A.L., Hasan, F.N., Quinn, T.L., Long, D.L., Sorge, R.E., & Goodin, B.R.
  (2021). Temporal summation of mechanical pain prospectively predicts
  movement-evoked pain severity in adults with chronic low back pain. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-021-04306-5

- Paccione, C.E., Bruehl, S., My Diep, L., Rosseland, L.A., Stubhaug, A., & Jacobsen,
  H.B. (2022). The indirect impact of heart rate variability on cold pressor pain
  tolerance and intensity through psychological distress in individuals with chronic
  pain: The Tromsø Study. *Pain Reports*, 7(2), 970.
  https://doi.org/10.1097/PR9.00000000000970
- Penn, T.M., Overstreet, D.S., Aroke, E.N., Rumble, D.D., Sims, A.M., Kehrer, C.V.,
  Michl, A.V., Hasan, F.N., Quinn, T.L., Long, D.L., Trost, Z., Morris, M.C., &
  Goodin, B.R. (2020). Perceived injustice helps explain the association between
  chronic pain stigma and movement-evoked pain in adults with nonspecific
  chronic low back pain. *Pain Medicine*, 21(11), 3161-3171.
- Peterson, C.C., & Palermo, T.M. (2004). Parental reinforcement of recurrent pain: The moderating impact of child depression and anxiety on functional disability. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 29(5), 331–341. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsh037
- Quinn, D.M., Weisz, B.M., & Lawner, E.K. (2017). Impact of active concealment of stigmatized identities on physical and psychological quality of life. *Social Science* and Medicine, 192, 14–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.09.024
- Rahavard, B.B., Candido, K.D., & Knezevic, N.N. (2017). Different pain responses to chronic and acute pain in various ethnic/racial groups. *Pain Management*, 7(5), 427–453. https://doi.org/10.2217/pmt-2017-0056
- Rakesh, D., Tandon, K., Bhatia, V., & Tandon, R.K. (2005). Stress and the gastrointestinal tract. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 20, 332–339. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1400-1746.2004.03508.x

- Reeve, B.B., McFatrich, M., Mack, J.W., Pinheiro, L.C., Jacobs, S. S., Baker, J. N., Withycombe, J. S., Lin, L., Mann, C.M., Villabroza, K.R., & Hinds, P.S. (2020).
  Expanding construct validity of established and new PROMIS Pediatric measures for children and adolescents receiving cancer treatment. *Pediatric Blood and Cancer*, 67(4), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.28160
- Riddell, R.P., Racine, N.M., Craig, K.D., & Campbell, L. (2013). Psychological theories and biopsychosocial models in paediatric pain. *The Oxford Textbook of Pediatric Pain*, 85–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1978.tb01638.x
- Riley, M., Hernandez, A.K., & Kuznia, A.L. (2018). High blood pressure in children and adolescents. *American Family Physician*, 98(8), 486–494.
- Roberts, M.H., Klatzkin, R.R., & Mechlin, B. (2015). Social support attenuates physiological stress responses and experimental pain sensitivity to cold pressor pain. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 49(4), 557–569. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-015-9686-3
- Sachs-Ericsson, N.J., Sheffler, J.L., Stanley, I.H., Piazza, J.R., & Preacher, K.J. (2017).
  When emotional pain becomes physical: Adverse childhood experiences, pain, and the role of mood and anxiety disorders. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 73(10), 1403–1428. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22444
- Sekirov, I., & Finlay, B.B. (2009). The role of the intestinal microbiota in enteric infection. *Journal of Physiology*, 587(17), 4159–4167. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2009.172742

Sibille, K.T., McBeth, J., Smith, D., & Wilkie, R. (2017). Allostatic load and pain severity in older adults: Results from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Experimental Gerontology*, 88, 51–58.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2016.12.013

- Simreń, M., Barbara, G., Flint, H.J., Spiegel, B.M.R., Spiller, R.C., Vanner, S., Verdu, E.F., Whorwell, P.J., & Zoetendal, E.G. (2013). Intestinal microbiota in functional bowel disorders: A Rome foundation report. *Gut*, 62 (1), 159–176. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302167
- Slade, G.D., Sanders, A.E., & By, K. (2012). Role of allostatic load in sociodemographic patterns of pain prevalence in the U.S. population. *Journal of Pain*, 13(7), 666– 675. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2012.04.003
- Spee, L.A.A., Lisman-Van Leeuwen, Y., Benninga, M.A., Bierma-Zeinstra, S.M.A., & Berger, M.Y. (2013). Prevalence, characteristics, and management of childhood functional abdominal pain in general practice. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care*, 31(4), 197–202. https://doi.org/10.3109/02813432.2013.844405
- Staud, R., Vierck, C.J., Cannon, R.L., Mauderli, A.P., & Price, D.D. (2001). Abnormal sensitization and temporal summation of second pain (wind-up) in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Pain*, *91*, 165-175.
- Stensland, S.O., Dyb, G., Thoresen, S., Wentzel-Larsen, T., & Zwart, J.A. (2013).
  Potentially traumatic interpersonal events, psychological distress and recurrent headache in a population-based cohort of adolescents: The HUNT study. *BMJ Open*, *3*, 2997. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013

Taft, T.H., Bedell, A., Naftaly, J., & Keefer, L. (2017). Stigmatization toward irritable

bowel syndrome and inflammatory bowel disease in an online cohort.

Neurogastroenterology and Motility, 29(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/nmo.12921

- Talley, N., Fett, S., Zinsmeister, A., & Melton, L. (1994). Gastrotinestinal tract symptoms and self-reported abuse: A population-based study. *Gastroenterology*, 107, 1040– 1049.
- Tarsitano, F., Castelluzzo, M.A., Concolino, D., & Pensabene, L. (2018). Functional abdominal pain. *Current Pediatrics Reports*, 6(1), 67–78. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40124-018-0158-7
- Tham, S.W., Palermo, T.M., Holley, A.L., Zhou, C., Stubhaug, A., Furberg, A.S., & Nielsen, C.S. (2016). A population-based study of quantitative sensory testing in adolescents with and without chronic pain. *Pain*, 157(12), 2807–2815. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000016
- Thompson, K.A., Bulls, H.W., Sibille, K.T., Bartley, E.J., Glover, T.L., Terry, E.L.,
  Vaughn, I.A., Cardoso, J.S., Sotolongo, A., Staud, R., Hughes, L.B., Edberg, J.C.,
  Redden, D.T., Bradley, L.A., Goodin, B.R., & Fillingim, R.B. (2019). Optimism
  and psychological resilience are beneficially associated with measures of clinical
  and experimental pain in adults with or at risk for knee osteoarthritis. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, *34*(12), 1164-1172.
- Thomsen, A.H., Compas, B.E., Collett, R.B., Stanger, C., Boyer, M.C., & Konik, B.S.
  (2002). Parental reports of coping and stress responses in children with recurrent abdominal pain. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 27(3), 215-226.

- Tomfohr, L.M., Pung, M.A., & Dimsdale, J.E. (2016). Mediators of the relationship between race and allostatic load in African and White Americans. *Health Psychology*, 35(4), 322–332. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000251
- Tsao, J.C.I., Meldrum, M., Kim, S.C., & Zeltzer, L.K. (2007). Anxiety sensitivity and health-related quality of life in children with chronic pain. *Journal of Pain*, 8(10), 814–823. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2007.05.011
- Turnbaugh, P.J., Ley, R.E., Mahowald, M.A., Magrini, V., Mardis, E.R., & Gordon, J.I. (2006). An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature*, 444(7122), 1027–1031. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05414</u>
- Ullmann, E., Perry, S.W., Licinio, J., Wong, M., Dremencov, E., Zayjalov, E.L.,
  Shevelev, O.B., Khotskin, N.V., Koncevayam G.V., Shotshkina, A.S., Moshkin,
  M.P., Lapshin, M.S., Komelkova, M.V., Feklicheva, I.V., Tseilikman, O.B.,
  Cherkasova, O.P., Bhui, K.S., Jones, E., Kirschbaum, ... Tseilikman, V. (2019).
  From allostatic load to allostatic state An endogenous sympathetic strategy to
  deal with chronic anxiety and stress? *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, *13*(47), 1-11.
- van Ginkel, R., Voskuijl, W.P., Benninga, M.A., Taminiau, J.A.J.M., & Boeckxstaens, G.
  E. (2001). Alterations in rectal sensitivity and motility in childhood irritable
  bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology*, *120*(1), 31–38.
  https://doi.org/10.1053/gast.2001.20898
- van Tilburg, M.A.L., & Murphy, T.B. (2015). Quality of life paradox in gastrointestinal disorders. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 166(1), 11–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2014.09.043

- Varni, J., Seid, M., & Kurtin, P. (2001). The PedsQL 4.0 as a pediatric population health measure: Feasibility, reliability, and validity. *Ambulatory Medical Care*, 3(6), 800–812.
- Varni, J.W., Bendo, C.B., Nurko, S., Shulman, R.J., Self, M.M., Franciosi, J. P., Saps,
  M., & Pohl, J. F. (2015). Health-related quality of life in pediatric patients with
  functional and organic gastrointestinal diseases. *Journal of Pediatrics*, *166*(1), 85-90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2014.08.022
- Vaughn, I.A., Terry, E.L., Bartley, E.J., Schaefer, N., & Fillngim, R.B. (2019). Racialethnic differences in osteoarthritis pain and disability: A meta-analysis. *The Journal of Pain*, 20(6), 629-644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2018.11.012.
- Vermeire, S., Assche, G. Van, & Rutgeerts, P. (2005). The role of C-reactive protein as an inflammatory marker in gastrointestinal diseases. *Nature Clinical Practice Gastrenterology and Hepatology*, 2(12), 580–586.

von Baeyer, C.L., Piira, T., Chambers, C.T., Trapanotto, M., & Zeltzer, L.K. (2005). Guidelines for the cold pressor task as an experimental pain stimulus for use with children. *Journal of Pain*, 6(4), 218–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2005.01.349

Wakefield, E.O., Puhl, R.M., Litt, M.D., & Zempsky, W.T. (2021). "If it ever really hurts, I try not to let them know:" The use of concealment as a coping strategy among adolescents with chronic pain. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.666275 Wakefield, E.O., Zempsky, W.T., Puhl, R.M., & Litt, M.D. (2018). Conceptualizing pain-related stigma in adolescent chronic pain: a literature review and preliminary focus group findings. *Pain Reports*, 3(7).

https://doi.org/10.1097/PR9.000000000000679

- Wallden, M., & Nijs, J. (2019). Before and beyond the pain Allostatic load, central sensitivity and their role in health and function. *Prevention and Rehabilitation Editorial*, 27, 388-392.
- Walker, L.S., Williams, S.E., Smith, C.A., Garber, J., van Slyke, D.A., & Lipani, T.A.(2006). Parent attention versus distraction: Impact on symptom complaints by children with and without chronic functional abdominal pain. *Pain*, *122*, 43–52.
- Wiley, J.F., Gruenewald, T.L., Karlamangla, A.S., & Seeman, T.E. (2016). Modeling multisystem physiological dysregulation. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 78(3), 290-301. doi: 10.1097/PSY.00000000000288.
- Williams, D.R. (2018). Stress and the mental health of populations of color: Advancing our understanding of race-related stressors. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 59(4), 466–485. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146518814251
- Xu, J., & Gordon, J.I. (2001). Honor thy symbionts. PNAS, 100(18), 10452-10459.
- Yacob, D., Kroon Van Diest, A.M., & di Lorenzo, C. (2021). Functional abdominal pain in adolescents: Case-based management. *Frontline Gastroenterology*, 12(7), 629– 635. https://doi.org/10.1136/flgastro-2020-101572
- You, D.S., & Meagher, M.W. (2016). Childhood adversity and pain sensitization. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 78(9), 1084–1093. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.00000000000399

Youssef, N.N., Murphy, T.G., Langseder, A.L., & Rosh, J.R. (2006). Quality of life for children with functional abdominal pain: A comparison study of patients' and parents' perceptions. *Pediatrics*, 117(1), 54–59.

https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2005-0114

# Table 1

Clinical Cut-Off Scores for Allostatic Load Risk Variables

Variable	Below Clinical	At or Above Clinical
	Threshold	Threshold
Allostatic Load		
BMI Percentile	< 85 <sup>th</sup> percentile	$\geq$ 85 <sup>th</sup> percentile
Hypertension	< 95 <sup>th</sup> percentile	$\geq$ 95 <sup>th</sup> percentile
hsCRP (mg/L)	< 1 mg/L	$\geq 1 \text{ mg/L}$

Demographic Characteristics of Participant Dyads

Characteristics	N	% or Mean $\pm$ SD
Child		
Age (years)	75	$13.97 \pm 2.80$
Sex		
Female	60	80.0%
Male	15	20.0%
Race		
White/Caucasian	58	77.3%
Black/African American	12	16.0%
Multiracial	5	6.7%
Ethnicity		
Hispanic	4	5.3%
Non-Hispanic	71	94.7%
FAPD Diagnosis		
Functional Dyspepsia	35	46.7%
Irritable Bowel Syndrome	26	34.7%
Abdominal Migraine	2	2.7%
FAPD - NOS	18	24.0%
Caregiver		
Age (years)	75	$43.86 \pm 8.10$
Sex		
Female	69	92%
Male	6	8%
Race		
White/Caucasian	64	85.3%
Black/African American	9	12.0%
Multiracial	2	2.7%
Ethnicity		
Hispanic	3	4.0%
Non-Hispanic	72	96.0%
Annual Family Income		
\$0-19,9 <b>9</b> 9	7	9.9%
\$20,000 - 39,999	21	25.3%
40,000 - 74,999	20	28.1%
\$75,000 - 99,999	6	8.5%
\$100,000 or greater	20	26.7%
Caregiver-Child Relationship		
Mother	67	89.3%
Father	3	4.0%
Grandmother	3	4.0%
Other	2	2.7%

Note. FAPD – NOS = Functional Abdominal Pain - Not Otherwise Specified

Variable	N	Mean (SD)
Allostatic Load Risk		
Cardiometabolic Risk Factor	75	0.60 (0.62)
Body Mass Index Percentile	75	69.39 (31.23)
Systolic Blood Pressure (mm/HG)	75	118.99 (9.17)
Diastolic Blood Pressure (mm/Hg)	75	67.49 (9.48)
Hypertension, n (% hypertensive)	75	8 (10.70)
Inflammatory Risk Factor	75	0.44 (0.50)
hsCRP (mg/L)	75	2.35 (3.29)
Allostatic Load Risk Factor	75	1.04 (0.95)
Psychosocial Functioning		
Anxiety Symptoms (T score) <sup>c</sup>	75	54.95 (11.94)
Depressive Symptoms (T score) <sup>c</sup>	75	54.26 (12.87)
Psychological Stress (T score) <sup>c</sup>	75	58.77 (12.20)
Adverse Childhood Experiences	75	3.79 (3.21)
Social Functioning	75	75.43 (23.09)
Peer Relationships (T score) <sup>c</sup>	75	44.30 (10.86)
Family Relationships	75	48.46 (34.82)
Health-Related Quality of Life (raw)	75	62.45 (16.23)
Experimental Pain Sensitivity		
Temporal Summation of Mechanical	75	24.67 (25.65)
Pain		
Cold Pain Tolerance Pain Intensity <sup>a</sup>	75	52.47 (27.25)
Cold Pain Tolerance Time (in seconds)	75	40.44 (41.10)
Clinical Pain Severity		
7-day Abdominal Pain Severity <sup>b</sup>	75	5.00 (2.56)
Additional Covariates		
Analgesic Medication Use, n (% use)	75	54 (72%)

Descriptive Statistics of Allostatic Load, Psychosocial Functioning, Experimental Pain Sensitivity, Clinical Pain Severity, and Covariates

Note. Data are presented post-imputation using the Hot Deck Imputation method for hsCRP, temporal summation of mechanical pain, cold pain tolerance, cold pain intensity, family relationships, and 7-day pain severity.

<sup>a</sup> Measured as 0 - 100 with 0 representing "no pain" and 100 representing the "most pain imaginable."

<sup>b</sup> Measured as 0 - 10 with 0 representing "no pain" and 10 representing the "most pain imaginable."

<sup>c</sup> T scores based on U.S. population norms

Table	4
-------	---

Correlations Amongst Key Variables of Interest

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
1. AL Risk														
2. Anxiety Sx	.267*													
3. Dep. Sx	.140	.773**												
4. Psych Stress	.013	.756**	.860**											
5. ACEs	.040	.110	.156	.124										
6. Social Fx	054	258*	330**	254*	227									
7. Peer Rel.	060	381**	386**	282*	218	.431**								
8. Family Rel.	076	.090	.175	.226	.116	234*	114							
9. TSMP	.025	029	032	160	065	059	219	.148						
10. CP Intensity	.049	050	147	208	026	.056	166	007	.459**					
11. CPT	002	.192*	.150	.164	008	.069	.018	.067	130	261*				
12. Pain Severity	.164	.437**	.366**	.423**	.192	178	137	.223	.006	.087	.077			
13. Child Age	162	018	.146	.143	.043	.031	007	.064	.047	078	070	.072		
14. Child Sex	.169	.340**	.406**	.360**	.047	135	097	.050	028	088	007	042	042	

Note. Spearman's correlations conducted for correlations involving variable 14. All other correlations conducted using Pearson product-moment correlation test.

N = 75 for all analyses \*= p < .05, \*\* = p < .01

Abbreviations: AL = allostatic load, Sx = symptoms, Dep. = depressive, ACEs = adverse childhood experiences, Fx = functioning, Rel. = relationships, TSMP = temporal summation of mechanical pain, CP = cold pain, CPT = cold pain tolerance

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1. AL Risk								
2. TSMP	.025							
3. CP Intensity	.049	.459**						
4. Child Age	173	.119	022					
5. Child Sex	.169	028	088	042				
6. Analgesic Medication Use	089	028	010	114	015			
7. Child Race (Black vs. White)	.073	.246*	.071	.034	.057	.199		
8. Child Race (Multiracial vs. White)	.068	.254*	.055	.073	.007	164		
9. Income (\$40,000-74,999 vs. \$0-39,999)	181	198	240	.184	.111	.075	241	101
10. Income (\$75,000+ vs. \$0-39,999)	.087	021	174	.140	.359**	012	227	129

Correlations Amongst Allostatic Load Risk, Temporal Summation, Cold Pain Intensity, and Covariates

*Note.* Spearman's correlations conducted for correlations involving variables 5-10. All other correlations conducted using Pearson product-moment correlation test.

 $p^{1} = p < .05, p^{**} = p < .001$ 

N = 75 for all correlations except those involving income (variables 9 & 10). N = 71 for correlations involving income. Abbreviations: AL = allostatic load, TSMP = temporal summation of mechanical pain, CP = cold pain

Hierarchical	Regressions	Predicting	Experimental	Pain S	Sensitivity f	rom Allostatic	: Load
Risk							

Dependent Variable	Predictors B (SE)		β	$R^2$
Temporal Summation				
	Constant	17.179 (6.859)		
	Allostatic Load Risk	.408 (3.177)	.015	.022
	Child Race	8.937 (7.149)	.146	
Cold Pain Intensity				
	Constant	51.647 (7.669)		
	Allostatic Load Risk	1.193 (3.369)	.040	.086
	Cold Pain Tolerance	186 (.077)	275	
	Child Race	-2.529 (2.54)	.126	

 $\overline{Note.}$  Child race was coded as 0 = Black or Multiracial, 1 = White

Predictors	<i>B</i> (SE)	β	$R^2$
Cold Pain Tolerance	206	310	.096
Social Functioning	.092 (.140)	.075	.073
Cold Pain Tolerance	180 (.077)	266	.068
Peer Relationships	140 (.241)	065	.100
Cold Pain Tolerance	204 (.074)	308	.096
Family Relationships	.041 (.092)	268	.072
Cold Pain Tolerance	181 (.077)	268	.070

*Hierarchical Linear Regression Model Predicting Cold Pain Intensity from Social Sources of Stress, Controlling for Cold Pain Tolerance* 

*Note.* Cold pain tolerance was added as a covariate in all analyses

### Table 8

Correlations Between Social Sources of Stress and Temporal Summation of Mechanical Pain

Variable	r	р
Social Functioning	059	.616
Peer Relationships	219	.059
Family Relationships	.148	.206

*Note.* Dependent variable is temporal summation of mechanical pain for all correlations.

Correlations Amongst Social Sources of Stress and Cold Pain Intensity

Predictor	r	р
Social Functioning	.056	.632
Peer Relationships	166	.153
Family Relationships	007	.950

*Note.* Cold pain intensity is dependent variable for all correlations.

# Table 10

*Linear Regression Models Predicting Temporal Summation of Mechanical Pain from Social Sources of Stress* 

Predictor	<i>B</i> (SE)	β	$R^2$
Social Functioning	067 (.132)	059	.003
Peer Relationships	299 (.235)	148	.022
Family Relationships	.111 (.086)	.150	.022

Variable	1	2	3	4	5
1. Anxiety					
2. Depressive Symptoms	.773**				
3. Psychological Stress	.756**	.860**			
4. Adverse Childhood Experiences	.110	.156	.124		
5. Temporal Summation of Mechanical Pain	029	032	160	065	
**= <i>p</i> <.01					

Correlations Amongst Psychological Sources of Stress and Temporal Summation of Mechanical Pain

#### Table 12

Multiple Regression Model Predicting Temporal Summation of Mechanical Pain from Psychological Sources of Stress

Predictor	<i>B</i> (SE)	β	р
Constant	41.882 (15.351)		
Anxiety	.242 (.408)	.112	.554
Depressive Symptoms	.730 (.487)	.364	.139
Psychological Stress	-1.162 (.495)	550	.022
Adverse Childhood Experiences	530 (.935)	066	.573

Correlations Amongst Psychological Sources of Stress and Cold Pain Intensity and Tolerance

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. Anxiety						
2. Depressive Symptoms	.773**					
3. Psychological Stress	.756**	.860**				
4. Adverse Childhood Experiences	.110	.156	.124			
5. Cold Pain Tolerance	.192	.150	.164	008		
6. Cold Pain Intensity	050	147	208	026	261*	
* = <i>p</i> < .05						

\*\* = p < .01

### Table 14

Multiple Regression Model Predicting Cold Pain Intensity from Psychological Sources of Stress, Controlling for Cold Pain Tolerance

Predictor	<i>B</i> (SE)	β	р
Constant	73.269 (15.910)		
Cold Pain Tolerance	179 (.076)	265	.021
Anxiety	.539 (.436)	.229	.221
Depressive Symptoms	.034 (.507)	.015	.947
Psychological Stress	709 (.527)	308	.183
Adverse Childhood Experiences	-3.249 (1.937)	194	.098

Correlations Amongst Clinical and Experimental Pain Responses and Health-Related Quality of Life

Variable	1	2	3	4
1. Temporal Summation				
2. Cold Pain Intensity	.437**			
3. Clinical Pain Severity	004	.139		
4. Health-Related Quality of Life	085	258*	258*	
* = <i>p</i> < .05				

\*\* = p < .01 N = 66

#### Table 16

Descriptive Statistics for Race-Based Differences in Clinical and Experimental Pain Responses and Health-Related Quality of Life

Variable	Group	Mean	SD
Temporal Summation	NHW	27.528	23.974
	NHB	21.667	37.141
Cold Pain Intensity	NHW	55.037	26.001
	NHB	47.417	33.932
Clinical Pain Severity	NHW	4.796	2.528
	NHB	5.917	2.353
Health-Related Quality of Life	NHW	62.666	16.911
	NHB	64.493	10.572

Note. NHW N = 54, NHB N = 12

One-Way Analyses of Variance Examining Differences in Clinical and Experimental Pain Responses and Health-Related Quality of Life Between Non-Hispanic White and Non-Hispanic Black Participants

Dependent Variable	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	р
Temporal Summation	337.280	1,64	337.280	.473	.494
Cold Pain Intensity	570.142	1,64	570.142	.752	.389
Clinical Pain Severity	12.324	1,64	12.324	1.973	.165
HrQOL	32.779	1, 64	32.779	.128	.722

## Table 18

Non-Parametric Comparison of Clinical and Experimental Pain Responses and Health-Related Quality of Life Between Non-Hispanic White and Non-Hispanic Black Participants

Dependent Variable	Mann-Whitney U	Wilcoxon W	Ζ	р
Temporal Summation	191.000	1269.000	-2.212	.027*
Clinical Pain Severity	237.000	1,722.00	-1.463	.143
HrQOL	306.000	384.000	299	.765

\* = *p* < .05

# Figures

Figure 1. Conceptual Model of the Biopsychosocial Sources of Stress in Pediatric FAPD



